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Subject to the Nondisclosure Provisions of H. Res. 895 ofthe 110 Congress as Amended

OFFICE OF CONGRESSIONAL ETHICS
UNITED STATES HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

REPORT
Review No. 23-4827

The Board of the Office of Congressional Ethics (hereafter “the Board™), by a vote of no less than
four members, on April 21, 2023, adopted the following report and ordered it to be transmitted to
the Committee on Ethics of the United States House of Representatives (hereafter “the
Committee”).

SUBJECT: Representative George Santos

NATURE OF THE ALLEGED VIOLATION: Rep. Santos may have omitted or misrepresented
required information in his candidate financial disclosure statements or Federal Election
Commission (“FEC”) candidate committee reports. If Rep. Santos failed to disclose or
misrepresented required information in his candidate financial disclosure statements or FEC
candidate committee filings, then he may have violated House rules, standards of conduct, and
federal law.

Rep. Santos’s congressional campaign committee, Devolder-Santos for Congress (the “campaign
committee”), reported expenditures that may not have been made for bona fide campaign or
political purposes. If Rep. Santos converted campaign committee funds to personal use, then he
may have violated House rules, standards of conduct, and federal law.

Rep. Santos’s campaign committee may have accepted excessive contributions in the form of
personal loans and contributions that may not have been Rep. Santos’s personal funds. If Rep.
Santos’s campaign committee accepted personal loans and contributions that exceeded campaign
contribution limits, then Rep. Santos may have violated House rules, standards of conduct, and
federal law.

On February 3, 2023, a prospective congressional aide accused Rep. Santos of sexual
harassment. If Rep. Santos sexually harassed or discriminated against the complainant, or
engaged in an effort to intimidate, take reprisal against, or otherwise discriminate against the
complainant for opposing such treatment, then he may have violated House rules, standards of
conduct, and federal law.

RECOMMENDATION: The Board recommends thatthe Committee further review the above
allegation concerning Rep. Santos because there is substantial reason to believe that Rep. Santos
may have omitted or misrepresented required information in his candidate financial disclosure
statements or FEC candidate committee reports.

The Board recommends that the Committee further review the above allegation concerning Rep.
Santos because there is substantial reason to believe that Rep. Santos’s congressional campaign
committee reported expenditures that may not have been made for bona fide campaign or political
purposes.
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The Board recommends that the Committee further review the above allegation concerning Rep.
Santos because there is substantial reason to believe that Rep. Santos’s campaign committee may
have accepted excessive contributions in the form of personal loans and contributions that may not
have been Rep. Santos’s personal funds.

The Board recommends that the Committee dismiss the above allegation concerning Rep. Santos
because there is not substantial reason to believe that Rep. Santos sexually harassed or
discriminated against the complainant, or engaged in an effort to intimidate, take reprisal against,
or otherwise discriminate against the complainant for opposing such treatment.

VOTES IN THE AFFIRMATIVE: 6
VOTES IN THE NEGATIVE: 0
ABSTENTIONS: 0

MEMBER OF THE BOARD OR STAFF DESIGNATED TO PRESENT THIS REPORT TO
THE COMMITTEE: Omar S. Ashmawy, Staff Director & Chief Counsel.
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OFFICE OF CONGRESSIONAL ETHICS
UNITED STATES HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CITATIONS TO LAW

Review No. 23-4827

On April 21,2023, the Board ofthe Office of Congressional Ethics (hereafter “the Board™) adopted
the following findings of fact and accompanying citations to law, regulations, rules, and standards
of conduct (in italics).

I.

1.

INTRODUCTION

A. Summary of Allegations

Rep. George Santos was recently elected to represent New York’s third congressional district
after an initial unsuccessful bid for a congressional seat in 2020.1-2 Prior to Rep. Santos
being sworn in to Congress, there was extensive press coverage discussing Rep. Santos’s
fabricating several aspects of his life, including where he attended school, the degrees he
attained, his employment history, and his ownership of real estate.3 In addition to those
alleged fabrications, press coverage scrutinized Rep. Santos for improper use of his campaign
funds and omissions or misrepresentations on his candidate financial disclosure statements.
Finally, Rep. Santos was recently accused of sexual harassment by an intern who was waiting
for promotion to a full-time position in his congressional office.

As described below, the OCE initiated a review to examine multiple issues concerning Rep.
Santos. While the OCE was able to obtain documentary and testimonial evidence from
several witnesses, many key witnesses refused to cooperate with the review. Despite this lack
of cooperation, the OCE reviewed an extensive number of documents and spoke to multiple
witnesses, ultimately finding evidence of misrepresentations on financial disclosure
statements and FEC filings, personal use of campaign funds, and improper loans or
contributions to the campaign.

The OCE reviewed Rep. Santos’s financial disclosure statements, bank statements for his
principal campaign committee and Devolder Organization LLC (“Devolder LLC”), and
personal income tax returns. The OCE found that the information represented in the financial
documents did not support Rep. Santos’s reported wealth and ability to make certain personal
loans to the campaign. The OCE’s review also raised concerns about a pattern of

' Member, Representative George Santos, https://www.congress.gov/member/george-santos/S001222 (last visited
April 27,2023).

? Biographical Directory ofthe United States Congress, George Santos,
https://bioguide.congress.gov/search/bio/S001222 (last visited April 27,2023).

? Seee.g., Grace Ashford and Michael Gold, Whois Rep.-Elect George Santos? His Resume May Be Largely
Fiction, Ny TIMES (December 19,2022), availableat https:/www.nytimes.com/2022/12/19/nyregion/george-santos-
ny-republicans.html; Nia Prater, What Hasn’t George Santos Lied About, NY MAGAZINE (December22,2022),
available athttps://nymag.com/intelligencer/2022/12/what-hasnt-george-santos-lied-about.html; David Cohen, Rep.
Elect Santos Admits Lying About His Credentials, poLiTicO, (December26,2022), available at
https:/www.politico.com/news/2022/12/26/george-santos-background-ny-post-00075605.
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misreporting required information to the FEC, as well as a pattern of campaign spending that
may not have been for bona fide campaign purposes. Finally, the OCE has reason to believe
that the campaign bank records provided to the OCE may have been altered prior to being
submitted for review.

Rep. Santos may have omitted or misrepresented required information in his candidate
financial disclosure statements or FEC candidate committee reports. If Rep. Santos failed to
disclose or misrepresented required information in his candidate financial disclosure
statements or FEC candidate committee filings, he may have violated House rules, standards
of conduct, and federal law.

Rep. Santos’s congressional campaign committee, Devolder-Santos for Congress, reported
expenditures that may not have been made for bona fide campaign or political purposes. If
Rep. Santos converted campaign committee funds to personal use, he may have violated House
rules, standards of conduct, and federal law.

Rep. Santos’s campaign committee may have accepted excessive contributions in the form of
personal loans and contributions that may not have been Rep. Santos’s personal funds. If Rep.
Santos’s campaign committee accepted personal loans and contributions that exceeded
campaign contribution limits, he may have violated House rules, standards of conduct, and
federal law.

On February 3, 2023, a prospective congressional aide accused Rep. Santos of sexual
harassment. If Rep. Santos sexually harassed or discriminated against the complainant, or
engaged in efforts to intimidate, take reprisal against, or otherwise discriminate against the
complainant for opposing such treatment, he may have violated House rules, standards of
conduct, and federal law.

The Board recommends that the Committee further review the above allegation concerning
Rep. Santos because there is substantial reason to believe that Rep. Santos may have omitted
or misrepresented required information in his candidate financial disclosure statements or FEC
candidate committee reports.

The Board recommends that the Committee further review the above allegation concerning
Rep. Santos because there is substantial reason to believe that Rep. Santos’s congressional
campaign committee reported expenditures that may not have been made for bona fide
campaign or political purposes.

The Board recommends that the Committee further review the above allegation concerning
Rep. Santos because there is substantial reason to believe that Rep. Santos’s campaign
committee may have accepted excessive contributions in the form of personal loans and
contributions that may not have been Rep. Santos’s personal funds.

The Board recommends that the Committee dismiss the above allegation concerning Rep.
Santos because there is not substantial reason to believe that Rep. Santos sexually harassed or
discriminated againstthe complainant,orengaged in efforts to intimidate, take reprisal against,
or otherwise discriminate against the complainant for opposing such treatment.

Page 6 of 38



CONFIDENTIAL

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

Subject to the Nondisclosure Provisions of H. Res. 895 ofthe 110 Congress as Amended

B. Jurisdictional Statement

The allegations that were the subject of this review concern Rep. Santos, a Member of the
United States House of Representatives from the 3rd District of New York. The Resolution
the United States House of Representatives adopted creating the OCE directs that, “[n]o
review shall be undertaken ... by the [B]oard of any alleged violation that occurred before
the date of adoption of this resolution.” The House adopted this Resolution on March 11,
2008. Because some of the conduct at issue relates to a successful campaign for election to
the United States House of Representatives, review by the Board is also in accordance with
the Resolution and House precedent. >

C. Procedural History

The OCE received a written request for a preliminary review in this matter signed by at least
two members of the Board on February 17, 2023. The preliminary review commenced on
February 18,2023.6

On February 21, 2023, pursuant to OCE rules, the OCE notified Rep. Santos and the
Committee of the initiation of the preliminary review and provided them with a statement of
the nature of the review.” Rep. Santos was notified of his right to be represented by counsel in

this matter and notified that invoking his right to counsel would not be held negatively against
him.?

At least three members of the Board voted to initiate a second-phase review in this matter on
March 17, 2023. The second-phase review commenced on March 20, 2023.° The second-
phase review was scheduled to end on May 3, 2023.

On March 20, 2023, pursuant to OCE rules, the OCE notified Rep. Santos and the Committee
of the initiation of the second-phase review in this matter, and again notified Rep. Santos of
his right to be represented by counsel in this matter, and that invoking that right would not be
held negatively against him. 19

“ H.Res. 895 of the 110th Congress § 1(e) (2008) (as amended) (hereafter the “Resolution”).

3 Seee.g., Inthe Matter of Allegations Relating to Representative Ruben Kihuen, H.R. REp. No. 115-1041,at 5, n.
24 (2d Sess.2018) (“[TThe Committee has repeatedly noted it has jurisdiction over ‘misconductrelatingto a
successful campaign for election to the House’”’). See also OCE Rules for the Conduct of Investigations, Rule 1.

® A preliminary review is “requested” in writing by members of the Board ofthe OCE. The request fora
preliminaryreview is received by the OCE ona date certain. Accordingto theResolution, thetimeframe for
conductinga preliminary review is 30 days from the date ofreceiptof the Board’s request.

" Letter from Omar S. Ashmawy, Chief Counseland Staff Dir., Office of Cong. Ethics, to Rep. Santos (Feb. 21,
2023).

$1d.

? Accordingto the Resolution, the Board mustvote (as opposed to makea written authorization) on whetherto
conduct a second-phase review in a matter before the expiration ofthe 30-day preliminary review. If the Board
votes fora second phase, the second phase commences the day after the preliminary review ends.

10 Letter from Omar S. Ashmawy, Chief Counseland Staff Dir., Office of Cong. Ethics, to Rep. Santos (March 20,
2023).
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17. In a letter dated March 29, 2023, the Chairman and Ranking Member of the Committee
requested that the OCE cease its review and refer it to the Committee. !

18. The Board considered this request at its next scheduled meeting on April 21,2023.12 The
Board voted to refer the matter to the Committee for further review and adopted these
findings on April 21, 2023.13

19. The report and its findings in this matter were transmitted to the Committee on May 1, 2023.

D. Summary of Investigative Activity

20. The OCE requested documentary and in some cases testimonial information from the
following sources:

(1) Rep. George Santos;

(2) Devolder LLC;

3)

4)

(%) Staffer 1, Rep. Santos’s Chief of StafT;

(6) Staffer 2, Rep. Santos’s Director of Operations;
(7) Staffer 3, Rep. Santos’s Legislative Director;
(8) Witness 1, Former Congressional Aide;

9) Linkbridge Inc.;

(10) Red Strategies USA, LLC;

(11)  Flushing Bank;

(12)
(13)
(14) Nancy Marks.

and

! Letter from Chairman Michael Guest and Ranking Member Susan Wild, Committee on Ethics, to Members of the
Board, Office of Congressional Ethics (March29,2023).

12 Committee cease and referrequests are governed by House Rule XI, clause 3(r), which was added to the House
Rulesby H.Res 895, 110th Cong. (2008). Clause 3(r) provides two predicates fora Committee cease and refer
request: first, that the Committee mustbe “investigating” such matter, and second, that such Committee
investigation mustbe underway “uponreceipt” ofnotification of the OCE’s review. See, e.g., Reportof the
Democratic Members of the Special Task Force on Ethics Enforcement, H. Rept. 110-1, 110thCong. 1st Sess.at 17
(Dec. 2007). With respect to this second requirement, the Committee’s investigation was not underway “upon
receipt” of notification ofthe OCE’s review of this matter. See Letter from Board, Office of Congressional Ethics, to
Chairman Michael Guest and Ranking Member Susan Wild, Committee on Ethics (Feb.21,2023) (providing notice
ofthe OCE’s review); see Statementof the Chairman and Ranking Member of the Committee on Ethics Regarding
Representative George Santos (March2,2023) (stating the Committee established an Investigative Subcommittee
on February 28,2023). As a result, the Committee’s request to cease and refer this investigation is neither valid nor
bindinguponthe OCE.

1 Having determined the findings herein sufficiently support its decision to refer this matter for further review to the
Committee and to expedite the work of the Investigative Subcommittee, however, the Board voted to conclude its
review of this matter and transmit its referral to the Committee prior to the scheduled end of the second-phase review.
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21. The following individuals and entities refused to cooperate with the OCE’s review:

(1) Rep. Santos;

(2) ,Inc.;
3)

4) Nancy Marks;

) ;

(6) Red Strategies USA, LLC;

(7) Linkbridge Inc.;

(8) Devolder LLC;
©)) ;and
(10)  Flushing Bank.

REP. SANTOS MAY HAVE CONVERTED CAMPAIGN FUNDS TO PERSONAL
USE AND MISREPORTED REQUIRED INFORMATION TO THE FEC

A. Applicable Law, Rules, and Standards of Conduct

22. Federal Statutes

Under 18 U.S.C. § 1001, “[W]hoever ... knowingly and willfully—

(1) falsifies, conceals, or coversup by anytrick, scheme, or device a material fact;

(2) makes any materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or representation; or

(3) makes or uses any false writing or document knowing the same to contain any
materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or entry;

shall be fined under this title, [and] imprisoned not morethan 5 years....”

18 U.S.C. § 1505 provides that “Whoever corruptly, or by threats or force, or by any threatening
letter or communication influences, obstructs, or impedes or endeavors to influence, obstruct, or
impede the due and proper administration ofthe law under which any pending proceeding is being
had before any department or agency of the United States, or the due and proper exercise of the
power of inquiry under which any inquiry or investigation is being had by either House, or any
committee of either House or any joint committee of the Congress—Shall be fined under this title,
[or] imprisoned not more than5 years....”

52 U.S.C. § 30114(b)(1) provides that ““A contribution or donation described in subsection (a)
shall not be converted by any person to personal use.”

Under 52 U.S.C. § 30114(b)(2), ““For the purposes of paragraph (1), a contribution or donation
shall be considered to be converted to personal use if the contribution or amount is used to fulfill
any commitment, obligation, or expense of a person thatwould existirrespective of the candidate’s
election campaign or individual’s dutiesas a holder of Federal office . . ..”
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52 U.S.C. 8 30104(b)(5)(A) providesthat “Each report under this section shall disclose . . . the
name and address of each personto whom an expenditure in an aggregate amount or value in
excess of $200 within the calendar year is made by the reporting committee to meet a candidate
or committee operating expense, together with the date, amount, and purpose of the expenditure.

52 U.S.C. 8 30104(b)(6)(A) providesthat “Each report under this section shall disclose . . . for
an authorized committee, the name and address of each person who hasreceived any
disbursement not disclosed under paragraph (5) in an aggregate amount or value in excess of
$200 within the calendar year (or election cycle, in the case of an authorized committee of a
candidate for Federal office), together with the date and amount of any such disbursement. ...”

Under 52 U.S.C. § 30104(b), “Each report under this section shall disclose-

(1) the amount of cash on hand at the beginning of the reporting period;

(2) for the reporting period and the calendar year (or election cycle, in the case of an
authorized committee of a candidate for Federal office), the total amount of all receipts,
and the total amount of all receipts in the following categories: . ..

(B) for an authorized committee, contributions from the candidate; . . .
(G) for an authorized committee, loans made by or guaranteed by the candidate;
(H) all other loans; . ..

(4) for the reporting period and the calendar year (or election cycle, in the case of an

authorized committee of a candidate for Federal office), the total amount of all

disbursements, and all disbursements in the following categories:. . .

(D) for an authorized committee, repayment of loans made by or guaranteed by the
candidate; . ..
(G) for an authorized committee, any other disbursements ...”

Under 18 U.S.C. § 1343, “Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice
to defraud, or for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses,
representations, or promises, transmits or causes to be transmitted by means of wire, radio, or
television communication in interstate or foreign commerce, any writings, signs, signals, pictures,
or sounds for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice, shall be fined under this title or
imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both.”

23. House Rules

Pursuant to House Rule 23 clause 1, Members “shall behave at all times in a manner that shall
reflect creditably on the House.”

Under House Rule 23 clause 2, Members “shall adhere to the spirit and the letter of the Rules of
the House . .. .”

House Rule 23, clause 6 states: ““A Member, Delegate, or Resident Commissioner— (a) shall keep
the campaign funds of such individual separate from the personal funds of such individual; (b)
may not convert campaign funds to personal use in excess of an amount representing
reimbursement for legitimate and verifiable campaign expenditures; and (c) except as provided in
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clause 1(b) of rule XXIV, may not expend funds from a campaign account of such individual that
are not attributable to bona fide campaign or political purposes.”

24. Federal Elections Commission Regulations

11 C.F.R. 8 113.1(g) defines “personal use” to mean ““any use of funds in a campaign account of
a present or former candidate to fulfill a commitment, obligation or expense of any person that
would exist irrespective of the candidate’s campaign or duties as a Federal officeholder. (1)(i)
Personal use includes but is not limited to the use of funds in a campaign account for any item
listed in paragraphs (9)(2)(i)(A) through (J) of this section: . .

(A) Household food items or supplies. . .

(F) Admission to a sporting event, concert, theater or other form of entertainment, unless

part of a specific campaign or officeholder activity. . .

(J) A vacation.”

11 C.F.R. § 113.1(g)(2)(ii) provides that “[t]he Commission will determine, on a case-by-case
basis, whether other uses of funds in a campaign account fulfill a commitment, obligation or
expense that would exist irrespective of the candidate’s campaign or duties as a Federal
officeholder, and therefore are personal use. Examples of such other usesinclude:

(B) Meal expenses;

(C) Travel expenses, including subsistence expenses incurred during travel. If a committee
uses campaign funds to pay expenses associated with travel that involves both personal
activities and campaign or officeholder-related activities, the incremental expenses that
result from the personal activities are personal use, unless the person(s) benefiting from
this use reimburse(s) the campaign account within thirty days for the amount of the
incremental expenses, and

(D) Vehicle expenses, unless they are a de minimis amount. If a committee uses campaign
funds to pay expenses associated with a vehicle that is used for both personal activities
beyond a de minimis amount and campaign or officeholder-related activities, the portion
of the vehicle expenses associated with the personal activities is personal use, unless the
person(s) using the vehicle for personal activities reimburse(s) the campaign account
within thirty days for the expenses associated with the personal activities.”

Under 11 C.F.R. § 113.1(g)(8), “[f]or those uses of campaign funds described in paragraphs
(9)(2)(i) and (g)(2)(ii) of this section that involve both personal use and either campaign or office-
holder use, a contemporaneous log or other record must be kept to document the dates and
expenses related to the personal use of the campaign funds. The log must be updated whenever
campaign funds are used for personal expenses, as described in paragraph (g)(1) of this section,
rather than for campaign or office-holder expenses. The log or other record must also be
maintained and preservedfor 3 years after the reportdisclosingthe disbursementisfiled, pursuant
to 11 CFR 102.9 and 104.14(b).”
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11 C.F.R. 8 104.3(b)(4) providesthat “[e]ach authorized committee shall report the full name
and address of each person in each of the following categories, as well as the information
required by each category. (i) Each person to whom an expenditure in an aggregate amount or
value in excess of $200 within the election cycle is made by the reporting authorized committee
to meet the authorized committee’s operating expenses, together with the date, amount and
purpose of each expenditure.”

11 C.F.R. 8102.9(b)(1) provides that ““[t]he treasurer of a political committee or an agent
authorized by the treasurer to receive contributions and make expenditures shall’” keep an
account “of all disbursements made by or on behalf of the political committee. Such account
shall consist of a record of (i) The name and address of every person to whom any disbursement
is made; (ii) The date, amount, and purpose of the disbursement; and (iii) If the disbursement is
made for a candidate, the name and office (including State and congressional district, if any)
sought by that candidate. . ..”

Additionally, under 11 C.F.R. 8 102.9(b)(2), ““a receipt or invoice from the payee or a cancelled
check to the payee shall be obtained and kept for each disbursement in excess of $200 by or on
behalf of, the committee, except that credit card transactions, shall be documented in accordance
with 11 CFR 102.9(b)(2)(ii) and disbursements by share draft or check drawn on a credit union
account shall be documented in accordance with 11 CFR 102.9(b)(2)(iii).”

25. House Ethics Manual

The House Ethics Manual states that, “[A] Member or employee must take reasonable steps to
ensure that any outside organization over which he or she exercises control — including the
individual’s own authorized campaign committee or, for example, a ‘leadership PAC’ — operates
in compliance with applicable law.””14

The House Ethics Manual further states: “[a] Member’s use of campaign funds for federal office
is permissible only if it complies with the provisions of both the House Rules and [the Federal
Election Campaign Act].””15

“While FECA and other statutes on campaign activity are not rules of the House, Members and
employees must also bear in mind that the House Rules require that they conduct themselves “at
all times in a matter that shall reflect creditably on the House’ (House Rule 23, clause 1). In
addition, the Code of Ethics of Government Service, which applies to House Members and staff,
provides in § 2 that government officials should ‘[u]phold the Constitution, laws and legal
regulations of the United States and of all governments therein and never be a party to their
evasion.” Accordingly, in violating FECA or another provision of statutory law, a Member or
employee may also violate these provisions of the House rules and standards of conduct. .. .””16

14 Committee on Ethics, HOUSE ETHICS MANUAL (2022 Print).
https://ethics.house.gov/sites/ethics.house.gov/files/documents/2022 /House-Ethics-Manual-2 02 2-Print.pdf
[hereina fter “HOUSE ETHICS MANUAL”] (emphasis in original)at 123.

'1d. at 152 (emphasis in original).

1d. at 122.
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The House Ethics Manual states, “[c]ampaign funds are not to be used to enhance a Member’s
lifestyle, or to pay a Member’s personal obligations. Members havewide discretion in determining
what constitutes abona fide campaignor political purpose to which campaign fundsand resources
may be devoted, but Members have no discretion whatsoever to convert campaign funds to
personal use. Furthermore, House rules require that Members be able to verify that campaign
funds have not been used for personal purposes.” 17

Regarding the verification requirement, the House Ethics Manual further states: “The rule by its
terms requires that each campaign outlay made by a Member be not only ‘legitimate,” but also
capable of being verified as such. This requirement that the proper purpose of each outlay be
verifiable is a commonsense requirement. With the huge number of outlays that Members’
campaigns typically make, often on a nearly continuous basis, the propriety of particular outlays
may not be subject to review for months or years after the fact, when recollections as to the
circumstances or specific purposes of an outlay may well have faded.” 18

The House Ethics Manual additionally provides: “Members and their campaign staffs should
bear in mind that the verification requirement imposed by the House rules is separate from, and
in addition to, whatever record keeping requirements are imposed by the Federal Election
Commission on federal candidates generally . .. .19

With respect to meals, the Manual explains: “use of campaign funds to pay for any meal when the
only individuals present are a Member and the Member’s personal friends or relatives inherently
raises concerns of conversion of campaign funds to personal use. The only circumstance in which
payment for such a meal with campaign funds may be permissible is if the other attendees actively
work in the Member’s campaign, and if the meal is merely incident to a meeting having a clear,
specific agenda of campaign business.”20

According to the House Ethics Manual, “[a]s to outlays for travel or meals — as well as outlays
for the acquisition of goods or services from themselves or their family members — Members
must exercise great care, because such outlays by their nature raise a concern of personal
use.”21

The Manual goes on to say: “[i]n order to be able to verify that there was a proper campaign
purpose for meal outlays, the Standards Committee strongly advises that campaign committees
maintain records that note both the individuals who were present at each meal, and the specific
campaign or political purpose served by the outlay. When the attendees include only friends or
relatives, and the above-stated requirements for campaign payment for such a meal are satisfied,
the maintenance of specific, written records is essential. In these circumstances, the records should
specifically describe the campaign agenda of the meal. As with campaign outlays for travel, when

71d. at173.
81d. at164.
11d. at 165 (emphasis in original).
21d. at 169.
211d. at 167.
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the outlays for meals are frequent and extensive, the need to maintain specific, written records is
paramount.”22

26. House Committee on Ethics Guidance

In the Matter of Allegations Relating to Representative Laura Richardson, the Committee found
that Rep. Richardson “violated. . . House Rule XXIII clauses 1 [and] 2, and clause 2 of the Code
of Ethics for Government Service . . . by obstructing the investigation of the Committee and the
Investigative Subcommittee through the alterationor destruction ofevidence, the deliberate failure
to produce documents responsive to requests for information and a subpoena, and attempting to
influence the testimony of witnesses.””23

In July 2020, the Committee published a June 2020 Investigative Subcommittee Report (ISC)
explaining: “[t]he ISC is well-aware that Members have demanding schedules that do not afford
them the time to tend to the minutiae of every campaign transaction or congressional office task
to ensure their campaigns and congressional offices operate in full compliance with relevant rules
and laws. Members often delegate such oversight and compliance responsibilities to others.. . .
But Members must be held to account when they know or should know of ethical violations that
occur within the organizations they oversee; abdicate their duty to supervise the staff to whom
they delegate substantial responsibilities; disregard concerns as they are brought to their
attention; and hamstring compliance professionals by not supplying necessary information or
providing false information.””24

B. Rep. Santos May Have Converted Campaign Funds to Personal Use or
Misreported Information to the FEC

27. In this review, the OCE analyzed a pattern of misreporting of required campaign information,
as well as a pattern of campaign spending that did not appear to be for legitimate campaign
purposes. Additionally, the OCE found evidence that Rep. Santos may have produced false
records to the OCE, which may have been an effort to undermine this investigative process
and misrepresent the truth of Rep. Santos’s campaign expenditures.

28. Given Rep. Santos’s and his associates’ lack of cooperation with this congressional
investigation and the OCE’s expedited timeframe in this review as explained above,?’ there
are instances of potential campaign finance fraud that have received public scrutiny but are
not addressed below. The findings below represent the information the OCE determined
warranted further review; however, there are likely other areas of inquiry related to personal
use of campaign funds and campaign finance reporting omissions or misrepresentations by
Rep. Santos.

21d.at170.

2 In the Matter of Allegations Relating to Representative Laura Richardson, 112th Cong., 2d Sess. (Aug. 1,2012)at
2-3.

** House Committee on Ethics, Investigative Subcommittee Report, In the Matter of Allegations Relating to
Representative David Schweikert, 116th Cong. 2d Sess. (2020)at 2.

3 Seesupra,notes 12-13.

Page 14 of 38



CONFIDENTIAL

29.

30.

31

32.

33.

34

Subject to the Nondisclosure Provisions of H. Res. 895 ofthe 110 Congress as Amended

As explained below, the OCE found evidence that Rep. Santos may have provided false
statements in this congressional investigation, misreported information in FEC filings, and
may have misused campaign funds for personal use.

i. Rep.Santos’s Campaign Committee and Campaign Bank Accounts

Rep. Santos’s principal campaign committee, Devolder-Santos for Congress, filed its first
statement of organization with the FEC in October 2019.2¢ In that filing, the campaign
committee named Nancy Marks as treasurer and custodian of records.2” According to public
reporting and FEC filings, Nancy Marks remained the treasurer of the campaign committee
until January 25,2023.28

. The bank of record for the campaign committee was Empire National Bank (“Empire

Bank”), which was later acquired by Flushing Financial Corporation (“Flushing Bank™) in
2020.2° The campaign committee did not change banks, but starting in September 2022, the
campaign committee reported additional financial institutions as the campaign’s banks or
depositories.3? The campaign committee eventually reported banking with Evolve Bank &
Trust,3! Truist Bank, and Flushing Bank.32

To verify the legitimacy of Rep. Santos’s campaign committee expenditures, the OCE
requested the campaign committee’s financial records. Rep. Santos did not provide the OCE
with a complete set of financial records for his campaign committee. The OCE reviewed
what were purported to be all of the campaign committee’s bank statements for transactions
associated with the bank account maintained at Flushing Bank for 2022.

Additionally, Nancy Marks did not cooperate with the OCE’s investigation, which left the
OCE unable to verify pertinent information concerning the campaign committee’s bank
accounts and corresponding transactions and records.

. During witness interviews, the OCE found that Rep. Santos’s campaign staff had minimal

involvement with campaign finances and expenses. While Rep. Santos’s campaign staff
provided records for individual campaign expenses to Nancy Marks, 33 the Campaign
Manager, Staffer 1, was unaware who had access to campaign debit, credit cards, or the
campaign checkbook.3* Staffer 1 explained that Rep. Santos booked all of his own travel and
accommodations.?’ Staffer 1 further explained that he was unaware how many bank accounts

26 See Devolder-Santos for Congress, FEC Statement of Organization, filed October2,2019.

27d.

% 1d.; See Grace Ashford and Michael Gold, George Santos’s Treasurer Has Resigned, Leavinga Trail of
Questions, January 31,2023 NY TIMES, https://www.nytimes.com/2023/0 1/3 1/nyregion/george-santos-treasurer-
money.html

% See Devolder-Santos for Congress, FEC Statement of Organization, filed October2,2019; Securities and
Exchange Commission Rule 425 Filing, Flushing Financial Corp., File No.001-33013.

3% See Devolder Santos for Congress, FEC Statement of Organization, filed September22,2022.

d.

32 See Devolder Santos for Congress, FEC Statementof Organization, filed October27,2022.

3 Transcript of Staffer 1, (“Staffer I Transcript”), March23,2023 (Exhibit 1 at23-4827 0031-0032).

1d. at23-4827 _0031-0032.

3d.
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the campaign committee maintained, although he told the OCE he had access to a campaign
debit card.3¢ Rep. Santos’s campaign committee had approximately two or three full-time
campaign staffers and some consultants working for his 2022 election cycle.?” Based on the
testimony provided, the OCE was unable to ascertain who had access to review or spend
campaign committee funds, aside from Staffer 1, Rep. Santos, and Nancy Marks.

ii. Evidence of Potential Falsification of Campaign Committee Bank Statements
Produced to the OCE

During this review, the OCE requested campaign committee bank statements from Rep.
Santos. Rep. Santos provided purportedly unaltered campaign committee bank statements
from January 2022-December 2022. The OCE found a number of unusual transactions on the
campaign committee bank statements that Rep. Santos produced to the OCE. 3 The manner
in which these transactions were reported on the bank statements raised concerns that the
documents may have been altered prior to being provided to OCE investigators as a means to
obscure personal use of campaign funds. The OCE spoke informally with a customer service
representative of the bank, who confirmed the unusual nature of the entries described below.
Additionally, as further discussed in the next section, the OCE notes that the unusual entries
frequently were not reported in the campaign committee’s FEC filings as disbursements.

For instance, there were several transactions that included brief and informal descriptions
such as a first and last name, with no further details or transaction reference codes or
numbers.

-

37.

There were also transactions described as payroll taxes for campaign staffers, which included
staffer nicknames and misspellings, raising further concerns of alteration of the records.

-

36 Staffer 1 Transcript(Exhibit 1 at23-4827 0028-0029,0032).
371d. (Exhibit 1 at23-4827 0012-0013).

3% Flushing Bank Statement of Account, Devolder Santos for Congress (“‘Campaign Bank Statements”), January 1,
2022-December31,2022 (Exhibit 2 at23-4827 0079-0162).
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-

38.

Notably, on September 26, 2022, the campaign bank statements included a transaction
labeled “balance $3,800,” which is unusual since the transaction was in fact, a deposit into
the account for $15,000.

-

39.

40.

41.

The potential alteration of these documents produced to the OCE raises concerns about Rep.
Santos’s credibility, the veracity of the documents provided to the OCE, and the intent
behind providing false documents to OCE investigators. The OCE made efforts to confirm
the legitimacy of these transactions with Flushing Bank3° by making a formal Request for
Information (“RFI”) for the bank statements in question. However, Flushing Bank refused to
cooperate and cited inapplicable statutes and other privacy concerns that do not apply to
Congress or duly authorized congressional investigations.

The OCE further notes that any effort to falsify, conceal, or cover up a material fact in

records provided to the OCE could have criminal implications under the federal False
Statement Act.40

iii. Inconsistencies Between FEC Reported Disbursements and Campaign Bank
Statement Expenditures

While reviewing campaign committee bank statements#! and FEC filings for Rep. Santos’s
principal campaign committee, the OCE found evidence of misuse of campaign funds for
personal use and a pattern of carelessness and inconsistent reporting of campaign
disbursements. Below are representative examples of the inconsistencies between FEC
reported disbursements and campaign bank statements.

3 The OCE made efforts to confirm whether the transactions in questionreflected the true nature of theunderlying
transactions in the campaign committee bank account. On March 22,2023, the OCE had aninformal conversation
with a customer servicerepresentative at Flushing Bank through their public customer service phone number. The
OCE asked whetherit was possible to overridethe bank’s transaction descriptors on the bank’s mobile phone
application. The customer service representative explained that while Flushing Bank customers canadd personal
notes to transactions on themobile phone application, these details would not show up in a bank statement. Internal
Memorandum on file with the OCE, March 22, 2023. Subsequently, a fter identifying Flushing Bank as a witness,
the OCE contacted Flushing Bank’s Counsel on March31,2022. On April 3, 2023, the OCE sent an RFIto Flushing
Bank’s Counsel and all further communications occurred through counsel.

“18U.S.C.§1001.

4l Campaign Bank Statements (Exhibit 2 at 23-4827 0079-0162).
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a. Unreported Transfers and Unidentified Deposits to and from the Campaign
Bank Account

As evidenced in the bank statements, Rep. Santos’s campaign made several transfers and
received multiple deposits that went unreported in FEC filings. For example, on January 24,
2022, there were two deposits totaling $22,799 to the Flushing Bank campaign committee
account from two unidentified accounts.#?> One day later, there were two transfers made from
the Flushing Bank campaign committee account to two different unidentified accounts
totaling $25,000.4 The OCE compared these deposits and transfers to the campaign
committee’s FEC reports and did not find any evidence that these transactions were reported.

Most notably, on November 29, 2022, the campaign bank account transferred $20,000 to an
account linked to Devolder LLC, which as discussed below, is Rep. Santos’s personal
business bearing his name.* However, there were no corresponding records of this transfer
in the campaign committee’s FEC filings. This unreported transfer of funds from the
campaign committee to Rep. Santos’s personal business is alarming and heightens concerns
about misuse of campaign committee resources.

Despite requests, the OCE did not receive records of any of Rep. Santos’s personal bank
accounts, or a complete record of Devolder LLC or campaign committee bank statements.
Thus, the OCE was unable to verify the purpose of the transfers and deposits. This activity
calls into question the source of fundsreceived by the campaign committee, as well as the
recipient of large sums of unidentified and undisclosed campaign funds.

b.Campaign Expenditures not Reported as Disbursements to the FEC

In addition to patterns of large, unreported sums of money being transferred in and out of the
campaign committee bank account, the OCE found that Rep. Santos’s campaign committee
expenditures contained several discrepancies that did not align with the campaign
committee’s FEC reports. Below, the OCE notes some representative examples of the
discrepancies in the limited bank statements the OCE was provided. These examples further
demonstrate the possibility that Rep. Santos used his campaign funds for his own personal
benefit and ignored his campaign finance reporting obligations.

For example, in February 2022, the campaign committee FEC reports show two
disbursements to Fogo de Chao in Orlando, Florida, a Brazilian steakhouse.*> The
disbursements were made on February 17,2022, and February 25,2022—for $1,000 and
$1,576.98, respectively.* However, bank statements reflect only one transaction at the
restaurant on February 17,2022 for $500.47 Without cooperation from Rep. Santos or Nancy

“1d. at23-4827 0081.

“1d.

*1d.at23-4827 0153.

4 Devolder-Santos for Congress, FEC April 2022 Quarterly Report of Receipts and Disbursements, filed April 15,
2022 at138.

“d.

47 Campaign Bank Statements (Exhibit 2 at 23-4827 0085).
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Marks, the OCE could not verify the reason for this inconsistency, and whether it was human
error or an attempt to obscure the true nature of the related expenses.

The OCE also found that on February 20, 2022, in the same week, the campaign committee
made a $1,500 purchase at “MAX PETS” in Astoria, New York which was not reported to
the FEC.43

Further, while reviewing and comparing campaign bank statements with FEC reports, the
OCE found a pattern of unreported expenditures at restaurants, fast casual eateries, gas
stations, and department stores that went unreported on FEC reports and may not have been
for campaign purposes. For example, during the sample representative month of July 2022,
the campaign committee bank statements reflect $1,403.39 in unreported expenditures
ranging from an $8.50 purchase at Panera Bread to $130.38 at Town Cellars Wines &
Liquors in Manorville, New York.4°

Similarly, in August 2022, the campaign debit card made $1,696.25 in purchases that went
unreported to the FEC.°

The facts as identified above are indicative of a lack of transparency in reporting and support
a conclusion that campaign funds may have been used for personal use.

iv. Repeated Campaign Committee Expenditures Totaling $199.99 and Potential
Recordkeeping Avoidance

While disbursements over $200 are subject to certain recordkeeping requirements for
committees under the FEC’s rules, House rules require more robust recordkeeping for
campaigns so that all disbursements can be verified. Rep. Santos may have taken advantage
of the FEC’s $200 threshold by repeatedly reporting disbursements valued at $199.99. The
OCE found that, in many cases, the $199.99 reported amount may represent false accounting
to avoid recordkeeping. Evenso, Rep. Santos has additional obligations pursuant to House
rules to verify the legitimacy of all expenditures.

In 2021, Rep. Santos’s campaign committee reported 40 campaign disbursements valued
between $199 and $200.5! Of those 40 disbursements, 37 were for exactly $199.99,32 which
is just one cent below the FEC requirement to maintain a receipt, canceled check or
invoice.>3

Many of the $199.99 disbursements were for hotels, Ubers, and restaurants. Most notably,
the campaign committee reported it spent $199.99 on numerous occasions for the same

“1d. at23-4827 0085.

#1d. at23-4827 0115-0121.

01d. at23-4827 0123-0128.

3! Devolder-Santos for Congress, FEC October 2022 Quarterly Reportof Receipts and Disbursements, filed October
15,2022.

21d.

53 FEC, Recording Disbursements, https://www.fec.gov/help-candidates-and-committees/k eeping-records/records-
disbursements (lastvisited April27,2023).
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vendor. The OCE found seven disbursements to Il Bacco Ristorante of Little Neck, NY, five
disbursements of the same amount to Uber, and four disbursements to Delta Airlines.>*

In accordance with House rules, the OCE requested supporting documentation for all
campaign disbursements totaling $199.99. However, Rep. Santos did not provide any
supporting documents. Because most of the expenditures totaling $199.99 occurred in 2021,
and Rep. Santos only produced some partial bank statements for 2022, the OCE was unable
to verify the legitimacy of these disbursements.

However, based on a comparison of campaign committee spending with the same vendors in
2022, itis unlikely that any of these charges, even if aggregated, would have repeatedly
totaled $199.99—the exact number necessary to avoid record retention. For instance,
according to FEC filings, Rep. Santos’s campaign committee made twelve disbursements to
I1 Bacco Ristorante in 2022.%5 These disbursements range from $45.39 to $8,000.00.°° None
of the disbursements are for $199.99. Additionally, the 2022 campaign committee bank
statements do not show any purchases made at I1 Bacco Ristorante for $199.99.

In 2022, the campaign made 133 disbursements to Uber.57 According to the campaign
committee bank statements, none of the disbursements were for $199.99.58 The cumulative
Uber charges for the representative months of November and December 2022 were $926.76
and $1,118.78, respectively.>?

Further, in 2022, Rep. Santos’s campaign committee reported only one disbursement to the
FEC totaling $199.99.90 According to the filing, this disbursement was for office supplies at
Best Buy on February 7,2022. However, the campaign committee bank statements (from
the campaign committee’s only reported bank at the time) do not include any purchases at
Best Buy for the month of February.6?

The number of $199.99 disbursements made in 2021, and the lack of their existence for
similar vendors in 2022, indicate that the disbursements actually may not have been in that
specific amount. Moreover, this inconsistency may establish that the reported disbursements
were falsely reported to be that amount to avoid disclosing the details of the actual payments
and corresponding recipients, or to avoid maintaining records for those expenses.

5 Devolder-Santos for Congress, FEC April 2022 Quarterly Report of Receipts and Disbursements, filed October
15,2022.

3 d.

6 d.

37 See Devolder-Santos for Congress, 2022 FEC Reports of Receipts and Disbursements.

8 Campaign Bank Statements (Exhibit 2 at 23-4827 _00790-0162).

9 1d. (Exhibit 2 at23-4827 0148-0154,0156-0161).

5 Devolder-Santos for Congress, FEC April 2022 Quarterly Report of Receipts and Disbursements, filed April 15,
2022,at117.

1 d.

62 Campaign Bank Statements (Exhibit 2 at 23-4827 0084-0087).
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v. Additional Expenditures That May Not Have Been For Bona Fide Campaign
Purposes

The OCE found a pattern of campaign committee expenditures for travel and other personal
services that may not have represented legitimate and verifiable campaign expenditures.
These instances, combined with the details described above about reporting lapses and other
discrepancies, heighten concerns about conversion of campaign funds to personal use.

From July 23,2022 to July 24,2022, Rep. Santos’s campaign spent $2,281.52 at resorts in
Atlantic City, New Jersey.% When asked if there were campaign events in Atlantic City,
Staffer 1 stated he was not aware of any events in Atlantic City and did not attend any
campaign events in Atlantic City.%*

Likewise, in the same month, the campaign spent $1,400 at Virtual Skin Spa in Jericho, New
York, a full-service medical spa based in Long Island that performs cosmetic procedures
such as Botox, micro needling and facials. % While the OCE was unable to interview Rep.
Santos about this expense, the OCE asked Staffer 1 whether there would have been a
legitimate campaign purpose for an expense at a cosmetic skin spa.®® In response, Staffer 1
stated that he could notrecall “in past campaigns where there was ever anything spent on
cosmetics.”¢’

On August 26,2022, the campaign spent $225 at CityMD in Huntington, New York.%8
CityMD is the largest provider of urgent care services in New York and New Jersey.®® When
asked about this charge, Staffer 1 stated he was unfamiliar with “what that could be.”70
However, FEC reports show this disbursement as “campaign staff urgent care visit.”’! Thus,
Rep. Santos, or another campaign staffer may have used campaign funds to receive
emergency medical services.

Finally, the campaign bank statements reflect extensive travel outside of Rep. Santos’s
district. While it is not unusual for a candidate to travel outside of their district for campaign
events, the OCE found that the amount of out-of-state travel evidenced by the campaign bank
statements did not align with testimonial evidence provided by Staffer 1.

Staffer 1 stated that to the best of his recollection, there were only two trips out of state
during the campaign—to Washington, D.C. and Florida.”> However, a review of the

1d. (Exhibit 2 at 23-4827 0119).

64 Staffer 1 Transcript(Exhibit 1 at23-4827 0038).

65 Campaign Bank Statements (Exhibit 2 at 23-4827 0119); Virtual Skin Spa, About us, https://virtualskinspa.com/
(last visited April 27,2023).

6 Staffer 1 Transcript(Exhibit 1 at23-4827 0050).

71d. (Exhibit 1 at 23-4827 0050).

68 Campaign Bank Statements (Exhibit 2 at 23-4827 0126).

8 CityMD, About Us, https:/www.citymd.cony (last visited April 27,2023).

70 Staffer 1 Transcript(Exhibit 1 at23-4827 0049).

"I Devolder-Santos for Congress, FEC April 2022 Quarterly Report of Receipts and Disbursements, filed October
15,2022 at202.

72 Staffer 1 Transcript(Exhibit 1 at23-4827 0018-0019).

Page 21 of 38



CONFIDENTIAL

Subject to the Nondisclosure Provisions of H. Res. 895 ofthe 110 Congress as Amended

campaign bank statements show a substantial number of transactions within Florida
throughout 2022, primarily at restaurants and hotels.”3

65. For example, bank records show that in the three-day span between November 18 and
November 20, 2022, the campaign debit card was used in Las Vegas, Nevada; Washington,
DC; Queens, New York; and Miami, Florida—to purchase lodging, ground transportation
and meals.”

66. Staffer 1 stated that Rep. Santos attended the Republican Jewish Coalition Leadership
Conference, which took place in Las Vegas, NV from November 18 to November 20, 2022.75
The OCE confirmed that Rep. Santos attended the conference as a guest speaker on
November 19, 2022.7 However, on that same day, there was a $1,290 charge at the Breakers
Hotel in Miami, Florida—a luxury Palm Beach five star resort’’—as well as a charge for cab
fare in Queens, New York.”® Since Rep. Santos could not have physically been present in
three states in one day, these charges raise concerns about who had access to campaign
committee funds and the true nature of the expenditures.

67. The pattern of conduct identified above indicates that Rep. Santos may have repurposed
funds meant to promote his candidacy to instead support his lifestyle and other forms of
personal use.” Similarly, the campaign committee appears to have frequently misreported
information to the FEC, while attempting to conceal the legitimate purpose for such
expenditures. Additionally, Rep. Santos’s lack of cooperation and potential alteration of bank
statements produced to the OCE may have obstructed the OCE’s investigation and impeded
the OCE’s ability to properly examine the campaign committee’s spending practices.

68. Based on the foregoing, the Board finds that there is substantial reason to believe that Rep.
Santos converted campaign funds to personal use and misreported required information to the
FEC.

3 Campaign Bank Statements (Exhibit 2 at 23-4827 0079-0082,0084-0087,0094-0098,0139-0146,0157-0161).
"1d. (Exhibit 2 at 23-4827 0152).

> Staffer 1 Transcript(Exhibit 1 at23-4827 0040); Republican Jewish Coalition, Events, RJIC- Annual Leadership
Meeting, https://www.rjchq.org/vegas redirect 20221118 (last visited April27,2023).

6 C-SpaN, Representative Elect George Santos Speaks at Republican Jewish Coalition, Nov. 19,2022, available at
https://www.c-span.org/video/?524302-103/representative-elect-george-santos-speaks-republican-jewish-coalition.
"7 The Breakers, Palm Beach, About the Breakers, https://www.thebreakers.com/ (last visited April27,2023).

8 Campaign Bank Statements (Exhibit 2 at 23-4827 0152).

7 During the review, the OCE also found evidence of frequent small dollar purchases that may not have been for
campaign purchases. The campaign committee bank statements contained regular purchases at fast food restaurants,
supermarkets and hotels near Rep. Santos’s district. When combined with the information above, and given the
natureof theexpenses, the OCE founda high likelihood thatRep. Santos used campaign committee funds for
everyday personal purchases.
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III. REP. SANTOSMAY HAVE ACCEPTED EXCESSIVE CONTRIBUTIONS IN THE

FORM OF PERSONAL LOANS, WHICH MAY NOT HAVE BEEN REP. SANTOS’S
PERSONAL FUNDS

A. Applicable Law, Rules, and Standards of Conduct

69. Federal Statutes

Under 52 U.S.C. § 30104(b)(3), “Each report shall under this section shall disclose . . . the
identification of each—

(A) person ... who makes a contribution to the reporting committee during the reporting
period, whose contribution or contributions have an aggregate amount or value in excess

of $200 within the calendar year (or election cycle, in the cause of an authorized
committee of a candidate for Federal office) . . .

(E) personwho makes a loan to the reporting committee during the reporting period,
together with the identification of any endorser or guarantor of such loan, and the date
and amount or value of suchloan....”

70. Federal Election Commission Regulations

11 C.F.R. 8 110.10 states that ““[C]landidates for Federal office may make unlimited
expenditures from personal funds as defined in 11 CFR 100.33.”

11 C.F.R. 8 100.33 defines “personal funds of a candidate” to mean ““the sum of all the
following:

(a) Assets. Amounts derived from any asset that, under applicable State law, at the time the
individual became a candidate, the candidate had legal right of accessto or control over,
and with respect to which the candidate had -

(1) Legal and rightful title; or
(2) An equitable interest;

(b) Income. Income received during the current election cycle, of the candidate, including:

(1) A salary and other earned income that the candidate earns from bona fide
employment;

(2) Income from the candidate’s stocks or other investments including interest, dividends, or
proceeds from the sale or liquidation of such stocks or investments
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Pursuantto 11 CFR §110.1(b)(1),“No person shall make contributions to any candidate, his or
her authorized political committees or agents with respect to any election for Federal office that,
in the aggregate, exceed $2,000.780

Pursuantto 11 C.F.R. § 104.3(a)(1), “Each report filed under § 104.1 shall disclose the total
amount of receipts for the reporting period and for the calendar year (or for the election cycle,
in the case of an authorized committee) and shall disclose the information set forth at
paragraphs (a)(1) through (a)(4) of this section. . .. (1) CASH ON HAND. The amount of cash
on hand at the beginning of the reporting period, including: currency; balance on deposit in
banks, savingsand loan institutions, and other depository institutions; traveler’s checks owned
by the committee; certificates of deposit, treasury bills and any other committee investments
valued at cost.”

B. Rep. Santos’s Campaign Committee May Have Accepted Excessive
Contributions in the Form of Personal Loans That May Not Have Been Rep.
Santos’s Personal Funds

i. Rep.Santos’s Reported Personal Loans to the Campaign Committee

71. During this review, the OCE analyzed loans that Rep. Santos reported to the FEC as personal
loans to the campaign committee. However, the OCE could not verify the source of Rep.
Santos’s personal funds for these loans nor determine whether the loans actually came from
another unreported source.

72. According to FEC reports, Rep. Santos made a series of personal loans to his campaign in the
2021 to 2022 election cycle totaling $705,000.8! The first of these personal loans from Rep.
Santos was reported on June 30,2021, for $80,000.82 Next, Rep. Santos reported a $500,000
personal loan to the campaign committee on March 31, 2022,% and finally reported a
$125,000 personal loan on October 26, 2022.384

% This limit applies to each election the candidate participates in (€.g., primary, general, run-off, etc.) and is adjusted
forinflationeverytwo years. See 11 C.F.R.§ 110.1(b). Forthe 2021to 2022 electioncycle, the contribution limit
was $2,900. See FEC, Contribution Limits for 2021-2022, https://www.fec.gov/updates/contribution-limits-2021-
2022/ (lastvisited April27,2023).

81 Devolder-Santos for Congress, FEC October 2022 Quarterly Reportof Receipts and Disbursements, filed October
15,2022 (amended January 24,2023)at238-246; Devolder-Santos for Congress, FEC January 2022, Year-End
Report, filed January 31,2023 at50.

82 Devolder-Santos for Congress, FEC October 2022 Quarterly Reportof Receipts and Disbursements, filed October
15,2022 at237.

¥1d.at238.

8 Devolder-Santos for Congress, FEC April 2022 Quarterly Report of Receipts and Disbursements, filed April 15,
2022 at12. Accordingto FEC reports, Rep. Santos has made tentotal personal loans to his campaign committee
datingbackto January 2019, in amounts ranging from $2,000 to $500,000. See Devolder-Santos for Congress, FEC
April 2020 Quarterly Report of Receipts and Disbursements, filed April 15,2020 at 16-20; Devolder-Santos for
Congress, FEC April2022 Quarterly Report of Receipts and Disbursements, filed April 15,2022 at 12, Devolder-
Santos for Congress, FEC July 2021 Quarterly Report of Disbursements, filed July 15,2021. Of the $81,250 in
personalloans in that election cycle, the campaign committee has repaid $31,200to Rep. Santos. Due to the lack of
cooperation from Rep. Santos and Nancy Marks, the OCE was unable to verify thesource of theseloans and focused
on personal loans made during the latestelectioncycle.
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73. The campaign committee’s bank statements include a $125,000 “remote deposit” on October
26,2022, which is consistent with the loan reported for that date.®5 However, there is no
similar deposit in or around March 2022 for $500,000. 8¢

74. Additionally, the bank statements show the campaign committee had a $85,616.14 balance at
the end of March, which does not support the $821,293.77 cash on hand reported by the
campaign committee to the FEC for that period.®” As discussed more fully below, based on
Rep. Santos’s 2021 personal income tax returns, he may not have been able to afford
personally loaning his campaign committee $80,000in 2021.

75. The OCE notes that in each quarterly loan filing, Rep. Santos’s campaign gave inconsistent
accounts of the source of these loans. Boxes to indicate that the loans came from Rep.
Santos’s personal funds were checked in some places but not in other places. The most recent
filings do not indicate where the money originated, if not from Rep. Santos personally. It is
unclear whether these were deliberate amendments, or further evidence of careless record
keeping and reporting.

76. Additionally, documents provided to the OCE by Rep. Santos were substantially different
than the loans reported to the FEC. The OCE requested documents supporting all loans made
to Rep. Santos’s campaign. In response, Rep. Santos provided copies of three checks from
his personal bank account to the campaign committee.® Below are the date(s) and amount(s)
of each check:

Date of Issue: Amount:
April 20,2022 $100,000
September 10, 2022 $300,000
October 10, 2022 $100,000

77. None of the above loans were reported to the FEC or appeared connected to the $125,000 or
$500,000 loans that were reported to the FEC.

78. On September 19, 2022, an unidentified deposit was made into the campaign committee bank
account for $300,000, simply identified as “deposit” on the campaign committee bank

85 Campaign Bank Statements (Exhibit 2 at 23-4827 0145).

% 1d. (Exhibit 2 at 23-4827 0089-0091); The OCE notes thatin its review, Rep. Santos only provided campaign
committee bank statements for2022. Because the $80,000 loan to the campaign was madein 2021, the OCE was
unable to comparethe FEC reports and campaign committee bank statements for thattransaction.

87 Compare Rep. Santos Campaign Bank Statements (Exhibit 2 at23-4827 0089-0091)with Devolder-Santos for
Congress, FEC April2022 Quarterly Report of Receipts and Disbursements, filed April 15,2022 at4.

88 Checks from Rep. Santos to Devolder-Santos for Congress (Exhibit 3 at23-4827 0163-0166).
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statements.® It is possible this corresponded with the September 10, 2022 personal check;
however, this amount was still never reported to the FEC. Additionally, there were no other
corresponding deposits into the campaign bank account for the April 20, 2022 and October
10,2022 checks. Itis unclear into which account the rest of these checks were deposited.

Without cooperation from Rep. Santos or Nancy Marks, the OCE could not verify the actual
amount that Rep. Santos loaned to his campaign committee from his personal funds in the
2021 to 2022 election cycle.

ii. Rep. Santos’s Personal Finances 2021 to 2022

Additionally, the OCE sought to confirm whether Rep. Santos was financially able to make
the above-mentioned loans to his campaign committee. To this end, the OCE requested Rep.
Santos’s personal income tax returns and bank statements dating back to 2018. However, the
OCE was only provided Rep. Santos’s 2021 personal income tax returns.

Rep. Santos’s 2021 personal income tax returns state thatin 2021, Rep. Santos had an
income of $70,481.00, of which $20,304 were for unemployment benefits.*! The OCE did
notreceive Rep. Santos’s 2022 personal income tax returns and thus was unable to verify
Rep. Santos’s 2022 personal income. However, based on his 2021 income, it appears
improbable that Rep. Santos had the financial means to make such large loans to his
campaign committee from his personal funds.

iii. Devolder LLC

The OCE sought to verify whether Rep. Santos’s business, Devolder LLC, provided the
income or business returns to support the above-mentioned loans.

In a 2022 financial disclosure candidate report filed during his second run for the House,
Rep. Santos reported he was a Managing Principal at Devolder LLC, a New York-based
“capital intro consulting company” in which he held a 100% interest.”2 The report states that
the company earned between $1,000,001 and $5,000,000 in income in 2021 and 2022, and
that Rep. Santos received $750,000 in compensation from Devolder LLC in both years.*?
These amounts directly contradict Devolder LLC bank statements, as well as balance sheets
provided to the OCE by Devolder LLC’s registered agent and accountant, Devaughn

Dames.

% Campaign Bank Statements (Exhibit 2 at23-4827 0133).
% The OCE notes thatstarting in September 2022, the campaign committee reported additional financial institutions
asthe campaign’s banks or depositories. See Supra para. 33. The OCE only received bank statements fora limited
period of time forone ofthese institutions. As such, the OCE was unable to confirm into whichbank account some
of'the personalloans were deposited.
! Rep. Santos Personal Income Tax Returns 2021 (on file with the OCE).
Zi Rep. Santos 2022 Candidate Financial Disclosure Report, filed September 6,2022.

Id.
% Devolder LLC 2021 Profit and Loss Statement, (Created January 11,2023) (Exhibit4 at23-4827 0168);
Devolder LLC 2021 Profit and Loss Statement, (Amended on March 1,2023) (Exhibit 5 at 23-4827 0170).
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Devolder LLC was first registered in May 2021, according to records filed with the Florida
Department of State.”?> The OCE reviewed bank statements for Devolder LLC from May 26,
2021 to December 23,2021.9¢ The bank statements provided do not support Devolder LLC’s
reported income or the stated $1,000,001 to $5,000,000 value of the company reported in
Rep. Santos’s 2022 candidate financial disclosure filing.®7 A 2021 profit and loss statement
for Devolder LLC indicates that the company had $4,155.27 in assets for 2021, with a net
income of $54,293.65.98 The same document for 2022 states that Devolder LLC had a net
income of $367,403.79 and a total gross income of $667,960.° Moreover, the Devolder
LLC 2021 profit and loss statement does not substantiate Rep. Santos’s reported $750,000 in
individual compensation, and Devolder LLC refused to cooperate further hindering the
OCE’s ability to understand these discrepancies.

On April 17,2023, only days before the Board made its determination concerning these
matters, Rep. Santos provideda 2021 profit and loss statement for Devolder LLC that reflects
a different net and gross income for the company.!% In the most recent Profit & Loss
Statement provided by Rep. Santos, Devolder LLC has a netincome of-$13,795.54 and a
gross income of $614.00. 191 While these figures are vastly different from the numbers
represented in the original profit and loss statement, the OCE found that neither of the
documents support Rep. Santos’s reported $750,000 salary from Devolder LLC for 2021.

In sum, Rep. Santos may have loaned his campaign committee between $705,000 and $1.205
million from his personal funds in the 2021 to 2022 election cycle. If Rep. Santos’s primary
source of wealth was Devolder LLC from 2021 to 2022, based on the evidence provided, he
may not have been able to provide such substantial loans to his campaign from personal
funds. This raises serious concerns about the true source of the loans, or whether the
campaign committee inflated its cash on hand without actually holding the reported funds.
Since Rep. Santos refused to interview or provide a complete set of financial records in this
review, the OCE could not verify the source of the loans or the accuracy of the campaign’s
financial reporting. Moreover, if the source of the funds was not Rep. Santos himself, this
raises concerns that the campaign committee accepted excessive contributions from an
alternative source.

Based on the foregoing, the Board finds that there is substantial reason to believe that Rep.
Santos may have accepted excessive contributions in the form of personal loans, that may not
have been Rep. Santos’s personal funds.

% See Devolder LLC, Articles of Org. for Florida Limited Liability Company, FLORIDA DEPT. OF STATE, DIV.
OF CORPS., filed May 11,2021.

% Devolder LLC 2021 Profit and Loss Statement (Created January 11,2023) (Exhibit 4 at 23-4827 0168).

7 Rep. Santos 2022 Candidate Financial Disclosure Report, filed September 6,2022.

% Devolder LLC 2021 Profit and Loss Statement (Created January 11,2023) (Exhibit 4 at23-4827 0168).

% Devolder LLC 2022 Profit and Loss Statement (Created January 11,2023) (Exhibit 6 at 23-4827 0172).

1% Devolder LLC 2021 Profit and Loss Statement (Amended on March 1,2023) (Exhibit 5 at 23-4827 0170).
1911d. (Exhibit 5 at 23-4827 0170).
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REP. SANTOS MAY HAVE OMITTED OR MISREPRESENTED INFORMATION
IN HIS CANDIDATE FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE STATEMENTS

A. Applicable Law, Rules, and Standards of Conduct

&7. Federal Statutes

The Ethics in Government Act of 1978 states,

“(c) Within thirty days of becoming a candidate as defined in section 301 of the Federal
Campaign Actof 1971, in a calendar year for nomination or election to the office of President,
Vice President, or Member of Congress, or on or before May 15 of that calendar year,
whichever is later, butin no event later than 30 days before the election, and on or before May
15 of each successive year an individual continues to be a candidate, an individual other than an
incumbent President, Vice President, or Member of Congress shall file a report containing the
information described in section 102(b). Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, in any
calendar year in which an individual continues to be a candidate for any office but all elections
for such office relating to such candidacy were held in prior calendar years, such individual
need notfile a reportunless he becomes a candidate for another vacancy in that office or
another office during that year.”102

Pursuant to the Ethics in Government Act of 1978, the contents of a financial disclosure report
must include““[t]he identity and category of value of any interest in property held during the
preceding calendar year in a trade or business, or for investment or the production of income,
which has a fair market value which exceeds $1,000 as of the close of the preceding calendar
year ... 103

The Ethics in Government Act states that each report must include a statement of *“[t]he source,
type, and amount or value of income . . . from any source (other than from current employment
by the United States Government) . . . aggregating $200 or more in value. .. .”’104

The Ethics in Government Act states that ““[i]f any person, other than the United States
Government, paid a nonelected reporting individual compensation in excess of $5,000 in any of
the two calendar years prior to the calendar year during which the individual files his first
reportunder this title, the individual shall include in the report-

(i) the identity of each source of such compensation; and (ii) a brief description of the nature of
the duties performed or services rendered by the reporting individual for each such source.”105

The Ethics in Government Act states that “[i]t shall be unlawful for any person to knowingly and
willfully—(i)falsify any information that such person s requiredto report under section 102; and

125 U.S.C.app.4§101(c).

1055 U'S.C.app. 4 § 102(a)3).
145 U.S.C.app.4 § 102(a)(1)(A).
55 U.S.C.app. 4 § 102(a)(6)(B).
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(i1) fail to file or report any information that such person is required to report under section
102.77106

88. House Rules
House Rule 26, clause 2 provides, ““[f]or the purposes of this rule, the provisions of title | of the

Ethics in Government Act of 1978 shall be considered Rules of the House as they pertain to
Members, Delegates, the Resident Commissioner, officers, and employees of the House.”

89. House Committee on Ethics Guidance on Reporting Violations

In the Matter of Allegations Relating to Representative Vernon G. Buchanan, the Committee
noted that inadvertent errors and omissions “are not uncommon’ in financial disclosure
statements. 107 The Committee described the potential for concern with respect to errors and
omissions that “are knowing or willful, or appear to be significantly related to other potential
violations.””108 The Committee went on to explain that “accurate and complete reporting on
Financial Disclosure Statements should be every filer’s goal and is necessary to be in
compliance with House Rules and federal law. All filers are encouraged to promptly file
amendments whenever they learn of errors or omissions. Failure to do so may constitute a
knowing and willful violation.””109

B. Rep. Santos May Have Omitted and Misrepresented Required Information in
His Candidate Financial Disclosure

i. Rep. Santos Misrepresented His 2021 Income in His 2022 Candidate Financial
Disclosure

90. The OCE reviewed Rep. Santos’s candidate financial disclosure report filed in 2022 and
found various potential misrepresentations or inaccuracies. Rep. Santos’s 2022 candidate
financial disclosure filing states thatin 2021, hereceived $750,000 in compensation from
Devolder LLC, 1% which contradicts what is reflected in his 2021 personal income taxes.!!!

91. Additionally, the candidate financial disclosure report indicated that Devolder LLC generated
between $1,000,001 and $5,000,000 in 2021 and 2022.112

92. As stated above, Rep. Santos’s 2021 personal income tax return reflects a salary of
$70,481.113 Further, based on documents provided by Devolder LLC’s registered agent, the

106 5 U.S.C.app. 4 § 104(2)(2)(A)(i)-ii).

197 In the Matter of Allegations Relating to Representative Vernon G. Buchanan, 112th Cong., 2d Sess. (July 10,
2012)at5.

108 Id.

191d. at6.

"0 Rep. Santos 2022 Candidate Financial Disclosure Report, filed September 6,2022.

"'Rep. Santos’s 2021 Personal Income Tax Returns (on file with the OCE).

12 Rep. Santos 2022 Candidate Financial Disclosure Report, filed September 6,2022.

'3 See supranote 91.

Page 29 of 38



CONFIDENTIAL

Subject to the Nondisclosure Provisions of H. Res. 895 ofthe 110 Congress as Amended

company only made $54,293.65 in 2021 and there was no indication that his individual
compensationreached $750,000.114 Thus, the OCE found that Rep. Santos misrepresented
his 2021 salary and Devolder LLC’s 2021 income in his candidate financial disclosure report.

ii.  Rep. Santos Failed to Report Clients for Devolder LLC

93. Federal law requires that Members report any income or compensation from clients in excess
of $5,000 on their candidate financial disclosure.!!5 Additionally, the candidate must identify
the source of compensation, along with a description of the services provided. Notably, this
requirement only applies if the Member has an ownership interest in the employer.

94. Rep. Santos filed his candidate financial disclosure on September 6, 2022 and was required
to report compensation in excess of $5,000 from any client between January 2020 and
approximately 30 days from the date he filed the disclosure.!1¢

95. The OCE found that Devolder LLC had at least three clients, at least one of which provided
compensation to Devolder LLC during the reporting period for the candidate filing. As stated
above, Rep. Santos has a 100% ownership interest in Devolder LLC.

96. The OCE requested information from Rep. Santos about all clients who have engaged in
business with Devolder LLC. Rep. Santos provided the name of two entities
Investment, a Florida-based LLC managed by ,and ,an
insurance company located in Garden City, New York.

97. However, a review of Devolder LLC’s 2021 bank statements shows two deposits totaling
$14,458.67 from what appears to be a third client, Red Strategies USA LLC.!17

98. Red Strategies USA LLC is a Florida-based corporation, first registered in May 2021'18—the
same month and year Devolder LLC was registered. !!° Notably, Devolder LLC is listed as a
registered agent of Red Strategies USA LLC, as is R.I.A Concepts Holding LTD, a New
York compliance firm linked to Nancy Marks.!20

99. From June 28, 2021 to December 31,2021, Red Strategies USA LLC received over $100,000
in disbursements from_ primary campaign committee,

"4 Devolder LLC Profit and Loss Statement2021 (Exhibit 4 at 23-4827 0168).

155 U.S.C.app.4 § 102(a)(6)(B).

116 See Comm. on Ethics, 2023 Instruction Guide: Financial Disclosure Statements and Periodic Transaction Reports
at7.

"7 Devolder LLC Bank Statements (“Devolder LLC Citibank Bank Statements™), May 26,2021-December?21,
2021, (Exhibit 7 at 23-4827 0174-0193).

'8 See Red Strategies USA LLC, Articles of Org. for Florida Limited Liability Company, FLORIDA DEPT. OF
STATE, DIV. OF CORPS, filed May 4,2021.

119 See Devolder Organization LLC, Articles of Org. for Florida Limited Liability Company, FLORIDA DEPT. OF
STATE, DIV. OF CORPS, filed May 11,2021.

120 See Red Strategies USA LLC, Articles of Org. for Florida Limited Liability Company, FLORIDA DEPT. OF
STATE, DIV. OF CORPS, filed May 4,2021.
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Congress. 2! According to the FEC reports, the disbursements were for digital consulting and
fundraising. 12

On August9, 2021, a $9,458.67 payment was made to Devolder LLC from Red Strategies
USA LLC, followed by a September 23,2021 payment for $5,000.123 It is unclear what, if
any, services Devolder LLC performed for Red Strategies USA LLC or
campaign committee. However, based on the evidence provided, Red Strategies USA LLC
compensated Devolder LLC for services in excess of $5,000 within the required reporting
timeframe.

The two additional clients of Devolder LLC, and , that were
identified by Rep. Santos also compensated Devolder LLC in excess of $5,000 but did so
outside of the reporting period. 124

On September 12, 2022, Devolder LLC entered into a service agreement with
Investment. 12 is managed by 126 is the

CEO of , @ Miami-based company that specializes in custom-made,
powerboats. >’ Devolder LLC contracted to provide capital introductory services to
Investment for a period of twelve months to secure $225 million in funding to attain full

ownership ot [N ™

According to the agreement, was to pay Devolder LLC $250,000 upon
signing, with an additional $750,000 at the conclusion of the project.!?® A review of

Devolder LLC bank statements for September 2022, showed a $250,000 deposit from-
, a Florida-based corporation that lists_ as a director. 130

21 See | F:C 202! Year-EndReport. filed January 30,2022 at 40-57. | ran for
election to the House to representﬁ district. She lost in the general election on
November§8,2022.

122 Id .

1% Devolder LLC Citibank Bank Statements (Exhibit 7 at23-4827 0178).

124 Devolder LLC Flushing Bank Statements (“Devolder LLC Flushing Bank Statements”) (Exhibit 8 at 23-

4827 0195-0205).

125 Service Agreementbetween Devolder LLC andm, September 12,2022 (“Service Agreement
between Devolder LLC and| ) (Exhibit 9 at23-4827 0207-0212).

126 After conductinga search for]

atits corresponding address, the OCE wasunable to findany

information on the company with the Florida Departmentof State. However, results yielded the name of another

12914, (Exhibit 9 at 23-4827 0211).

, which lists asthe CEO. Further, the a greement between
was for Devolder LLC to provide capital introductory services to El
that [}

. Based on this information, the OCE foun

(last visited April 27,2023).
Exhibit9 at23-4827 0211).

30 Devolder LLC Flushing Bank Statements (Exhibit 8 at23-4827 0200); SeeW , Articles of
Org. forFlorida Limited Liability Company, FLORIDA DEPT. OF STATE, DI'V. ,filed August 13,

2020.
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104. On February 1,2022, Devolder LLC entered a contract with

, an insurance company based out of Garden City, New York. 13!
The agreement stated that Devolder LLC would “assist in identifying, engaging, and
discussing potential acquisition candidates for company which result in the company
acquiring the candidate.”!32

105. A review of a Devolder LLC account Transaction Detail Report shows a $288,000 deposit on
December 8, 2022, followed by a $99,960 deposit on December 12,2022.133

106. Based on the foregoing, the Board finds that there is substantial reason to believe that Rep.
Santos omitted and misrepresented required information in his candidate financial disclosure
report.

V. THE OCE DID NOT FIND SUBSTANTIAL REASON TO BELIEVE THAT REP.
SANTOS SEXUALLY HARASSED OR DISCRIMINATED AGAINST A
CONGRESSIONAL AIDE

A. Applicable Law, Rules and Standards of Conduct

107. Federal Statutes

The Congressional Accountability Act of 1995 (““CAA™), as amended, provides, “[a]ll personnel
actions affecting covered employees shall be made free from any discrimination based on— (1)
race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. . ..””134 The CAA further provides, “[i]t shall be
unlawful for an employing office to intimidate, take reprisal against, or otherwise discriminate
against, any covered employee because the covered employee has opposed any practice made
unlawful by this chapter, or because the covered employee has initiated proceedings, made a
charge, or testified, assisted, or participated in any manner in a hearing or other proceeding
under this chapter.” 135

The Congressional Accountability Reform Act of 2018 has extended protection against
discrimination based on race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age or disability to certain
unpaid staff members who carry out official duties of those employing offices but are not paid by
the employing offices for doing so, including interns, individuals detailed to employing offices, or
individuals participating in fellowship programs.!36

108. The Office of Congressional Workplace Rights Guidance

13! Finder’s Fee Agreement between Devolder LLC and John V. Bach, (“Referrer”) “Special Advisor” to
{ Finder's Fee Agreement”) February 1,2022 (Exhibit 10at 23-4827_0214-

5219 (Exhibit 10 at 23-4827 0214),

133 Devolder LLC 2022 Transaction Detail Report (“Devolder LLC Transaction Report”) (Exhibit 11at23-

4827 0223).

342 US.C.§ 1311 ().

155 U.S.C.§ 1317(@).

136 Office of Congressional Workplace Rights, CAA- Covered Community, a vailable at https://www.ocwr.gov/the-
congressional-accountability-act/covered-community/, (last visited April27,2023).
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The Office of Congressional Workplace Rights defines sexual harassment as: “[u]nwelcome
sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual
nature when this conduct explicitly or implicitly affects an individual’s employment,
unreasonably interferes with an individual’s work performance, or creates an intimidating,
hostile, or offensive work environment.””137

109. House Rules

House Rule 23, clause 1 states that “[a] Member . . . shall conduct himself at all times in a
manner that shall reflect creditably on the House.”

House Rule 23, clause 2 states that “[a] Member . . . shall adhere to the spirit and the letter of
the Rules of the House . . ..”

House Rule 23, clause 9 states that “[a] Member . .. may not discharge and may not refuse to
hire an individual, or otherwise discriminate against an individual with respect to compensation,
terms, conditions, or privileges of employment, because of the race, color, religion, sex
(including marital or parental status), disability, age, or national origin of such individual, but
may take into consideration the domicile or political affiliation of such individual.”

House Rule 23, clause 18 states that ““[a] Member . .. may notengage in a sexual relationship
with any employee of the House who works under the supervision of the Member...or who is an
employee of a committee on which the Member serves. This paragraph does not apply with
respect to any relationship between two people who are married to each other.”

Additionally, House Rule 23, clause 18 further states that “[a] Member...may notengage in
unwelcome sexual advances or conduct towards an employee of the House. In this clause, the
term ‘employee’ includes an applicant for employment, a paid or unpaid intern (including an
applicant for an internship), a detailee, and an individual participating in a fellowship
program.”

110. House Ethics Manual and Committee on Ethics Precedent

The Committee on Ethics has affirmed that sexual harassment is a form of sex discrimination,
and that the CAA and House Rule 23, clauses 1, 2, and 9 prohibit intimidation, reprisal, or
discrimination against a person related to their opposition to sexual harassment.!3® The
Committee also has “stressed that the applicable provision of the Code (House Rule 23, clause
9) tracks the language of Title VI of the Civil Rights Law of 1964 and should be interpreted in

137 Office of Congressional Workplace Rights, Avoiding and Responding to Sexual HarassmentClaims, available at
https://www.ocwr.gov/publications/general-counsels-brown-bag-outlines/avoiding-and-responding-to-sexual-
harassment-claims/ (lastvisited April27,2023).

138 See HOUSE ETHICS MANUAL at 268-69; House Comm. on Standards of Official Conduct, In the Matter of
RepresentativeJimBates, H. Rep. 101-293, 10 1st Cong., 1 st Sess. 8-10 (1989); House Comm. on Ethics, In the
Matter of Allegations Relating to Representative Alcee L. Hastings, 113thCong., 2nd Sess. 2-3 (Dec. 11,2014).
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light of judicial and administrative decisions (e.g., those of the Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission) construing that law.””139

In November 2018, the Ethics Committee released its report on allegationsthat Representative
Ruben Kihuen had sexually harassed several women between 2013 and 2017.140 In that matter,
the Committee found that, while serving as a Member of Congress, Representative Kihuen
engaged in unwanted physical contact by repeatedly kissinga D.C. Firm Employee’s cheek and
touching her shoulders and lower back, and engaged in unwanted verbal advances by
commenting on a D.C. Firm Employee’s physique, commenting on her appearance, inquiring
about her relationship status, asking D.C. Firm Employee if she lived alone, commenting that he
lived alone, and insinuating that he would help D.C. Firm Employee with her career in exchange
for a romantic relationship.14? The Committee also found that Representative Kihuen behaved
inappropriately when inquiring whether a partner atthe D.C. Firm would cheat on her spouse
during a conversation about Representative Kihuen’s behavior towardswomen. The Committee
agreed with the ISC that the behavior by Representative Kihuen violated clause 1 and clause 2 of
the Code of Official Conduct.142

Further, the Committee made it clear that, “‘[w]hile Membersare free to pursue romantic and
intimate relationships outside of the House, there is an inherent power imbalance when Members
romantically pursue individuals who are required to interact with Members as part of their
professional responsibilities.”” 143 The Committee went on to state that service as an elected
official involves power imbalances that Members must be careful not to exploit and ultimately
found that each of the complainants had potential career opportunities affected by their efforts to
avoid continued advances by Representative Kihuen.144

B. The OCE Reviewed Allegations that Rep. Santos May Have Sexually Harassed a
Former Congressional Aide

On February 3, 2023, a prospective congressional staffer to Rep. Santos, Witness 1, fileda
police report. 4> Witness 1 briefly volunteered for Rep. Santos’s congressional office while
awaiting a permanent appointment in the office.!4¢ Witness 1 claimed that Rep. Santos
sexually harassed him during this period. !4

13 HousE ETHICS MANUAL at 269 (citing In the Matter of Representative Jim Bates, H. Rep. 101-293, 101stCong.,
Ist Sess. (1989)).

140 House Comm. on Ethics, In the Matter of Allegations Relating to Representative Ruben Kihuen, 115th Cong.,
2nd Sess.at2 (November20,2018).

411d. at 4.

142 Id

43 1d. até.

144 Id

145 Witness 1, (“\NINIR Twitter”), TWITTER, Feb.3,2023,4:16PM, https:/twitter.com/\ ilinee
fl/status/1621618743620018 176/photo/ 1; see also Grace Ashford and Michael Gold, George Santos is Accused of
Sexual Harassment in His Capitol Office, Ny TIMES (February 4,2023), available at
https:/www.nytimes.com/2023/02/04 /nyregion/george-santos-harassment -Juf LT Se il html.

140 Witness 1, (“Rlinaag] Twitter”), TWITTER, Feb. 3,2023, 4:16PM, https://twitter.com/\a e

/status/1621 618743620018 176/photo/1.

147 Id
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Specifically, Witness 1 alleged that on January 25,2023 in Rep. Santos’s office, Rep. Santos
asked Witness 1 whether he had a profile on Grindr, a popular dating app.'4® Then, Witness 1
alleged that Rep. Santos invited him to karaoke and touched his groin, assuring him that his
husband was out of town.!#? Witness 1 alleged that his job offer was rescinded when he did
notaccept Rep. Santos’s sexual advances. !0

The OCE reviewed documentary and testimonial evidence to examine the abovementioned
claims. In its review, the OCE interviewed Witness 1, as well as two current staffers in Rep.
Santos’s office—Staffer 1 and Staffer 2, Director of Operations, and found the evidence
directly contradicted Witness 1’s claims regarding his termination.

During an interview with the OCE, Staffer 2 explained that Witness 1 followed him on
Twitter, and after Rep. Santos was sworn in, reached out to Staffer 2 to meet and expressed
interest in working for Rep. Santos. 3! Staffer 2 went on to explain that after their meeting,
he kept Witness 1 in mind when Rep. Santos mentioned needing a staff assistant. 152

Staffer 2 further explained that he submitted Witness 1°s resume to Rep. Santos and Staffer
1.133 Staffer 2 subsequently set up an interview for Witness 1. According to Witness 1 and
current staffers, Witness 1 received an offer letter that same day, January 24, 2023.154

Witness 1 was then asked to come in on January 25, 2023 to meet the rest of the staff and get
acquainted in the office. !5 Staffer 2 explained that Witness 1 was allowed to do minor tasks
around the office, such as paperwork, “grabbing stuff from the printer,” or helping Staffer 2
escort Rep. Santos to votes. 156

When asked about the allegations, Staffer 2 stated that in the brief encounters Witness 1 had
with Rep. Santos, there was not a moment where Witness 1 would have been alone with Rep.
Santos. 157

According to testimonial evidence, Witness 1’s offer was withdrawn shortly after it was
extended due to past criminal legal issues that were brought to Staffer 1’s attention.!58 In
fact, Staffer 2 stated that, “if it’s not me that’s with the [Clongressman at all times, it’s either
the ledge [sic] director or the chief, or the comms [sic] director, but—when those folks are
not there, its always me. I am always by his side.” 15° The OCE found Staffer 2’s testimony
credible.

148 Id

149 Id

150 Id.

15! Transcript of Staffer 2, March 27,2023, (““Staffer 2 Transcript”) (Exhibit 12 at 23-4827 0235-236).
21d. at 23-4827 0235-0236.

31d. at 23-4827 0236-0237.

341d. at 23-4827 0237.

1551d. at 23-4827 _0237; Transcript of Witness 1, April 6,2023, (“Witness 1 Transcript”) (Exhibit 13 at23-
4827 0285-0287.

136 Sta ffer2 Transcript(Exhibit 12 at 23-4827 0240).

571d. (Exhibit 12 at 23-4827 0245).

138 Staffer 1 Transcript (Exhibit 1 at 23-4827 0062).

159 Staffer 2 Transcript (Exhibit 12 at 23-4827 0244).
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Further, the OCE reviewed text messages between Witness 1 and Staffer 2 and found that
Witness 1 acknowledged that his offer was rescinded due to his past legal troubles and not
due to refusing sexual advances from Rep. Santos.!60

Additionally, testimony from current staff contradicted the testimony from Witness 1, who
described spending some time alone in Rep. Santos’s office on January 25,2023, 16!
Moreover, the OCE found that Witness 1°s potential motivations for coming forward with the
allegations raised concerns regarding the credibility of his allegations.

Witness 1 stated that he did not tell anyone about the alleged incident because he felt that
Rep. Santos’s behavior was not criminal or anything more than inappropriate.'®2 However,
on January 30, 2023, Witness 1 went to the FBI Washington, D.C., field office to file a report
about the incident and express interest in becoming a confidential informant for any ongoing
investigation into Rep. Santos. 103

Subsequently, Witness 1 continued to express a strong interest in working for Rep. Santos.!64
In fact, Witness 1 offered to volunteer in Rep. Santos’s office without pay after his
termination !¢ and continued to text Staffer 2 as recently as March 9, 2023, asking “if he
brought me back, what can we do about the complaint?...I just want my job back.”16¢

As such, because of contradictory testimony and unclear motivations, the OCE was unable to
corroborate Witness 1°s allegations.

Based on the foregoing, the Board finds that the evidence currently before it does not support
a finding that there is substantial reason to believe that Rep. Santos may have sexually
harassed a former congressional aide.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing information, the Board finds that there is substantial reason to believe
that Rep. Santos may have omitted or misrepresented required information in his candidate
financial disclosure statements or FEC candidate committee reports.

Based on the foregoing information, the Board finds that there is substantial reason to believe
thatRep. Santos’s congressional campaign committee, Devolder-Santos for Congress, reported
expenditures that may not have been made for bona fide campaign or political purposes.

190 Text Messages between Witness 1 and Staffer2, (“Text Messages”) January 24,2023 —March9,2023 (Exhibit
14 at23-4827 0348-0406).

11 Witness 1 Transcript(Exhibit 13 at23-4827 0306-0308).

1921d. at23-4827 0312.

193 1d. at23-4827 0313.

194 1d. at23-4827 0329-0330.

195 Text Messages (Exhibit 14 at 23-4827 _0400).

19 1d. (Exhibit 14 at 23-4827 0406).
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Based on the foregoing information, the Board finds that there is substantial reason to believe
that Rep. Santos’s campaign committee may have accepted excessive contributions in the form
of personal loans and contributions that may not have been Rep. Santos’s personal funds.

Based on the foregoing information, the Board finds that there is not substantial reason to
believe that Rep. Santos sexually harassed or discriminated against the complainant, or
engaged in an effort to intimidate, take reprisal against, or otherwise discriminate against the
complainant for opposing such treatment.

Accordingly, the Board recommends that the Committee further review the above allegation
that Rep. Santos may have omitted or misrepresented required information in his candidate
financial disclosure statements or FEC candidate committee reports.

Accordingly, the Board recommends that the Committee further review the above allegation
thatRep. Santos’s congressional campaign committee, Devolder-Santos for Congress, reported
expenditures that may not have been made for bona fide campaign or political purposes.

Accordingly, the Board recommends that the Committee further review the above allegation
that Rep. Santos’s campaign committee may have accepted excessive contributions in the form
of personal loans and contributions that may not have been Rep. Santos’s personal funds.

Accordingly, the Board recommendsthatthe Committee dismiss the above allegation that Rep.
Santos sexually harassed or discriminated against the complainant, or engaged in an effort to
intimidate, take reprisal against, or otherwise discriminate against the complainant for
opposing such treatment.

INFORMATION THE OCE WAS UNABLE TO OBTAIN AND
RECOMMENDATION FOR THE ISSUANCE OF SUBPOENAS

The following witnesses, by declining to provide requested information to the OCE, did not
cooperate with the OCE review:

(a) Rep. Santos;
(b)
(c)
(d) Nancy Marks;
() ;

(f) Red Strategies USA, LLC;
(g) Linkbridge Inc.;

(h) Devolder LLC;
(1)
(j) Flushing Bank.

Inc.;

;and

The Board recommends that the Committee on Ethics issue subpoenas to:

(a) Rep. Santos;

(b)
(c) Devaughn Dames;
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(d) Nancy Marks;
(e) ;

(f) Red Strategies USA, LLC;
(g) Linkbridge Inc.;

(h) Devolder LLC;
(1)
(j) Flushing Bank.

;and
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INTERVIEW OF STAFFER O1

Conducted virtually:

Pursuant to agreement, before Lucas Shaker,

Reporter in and for the State of California.
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PROCEETDTINGS
Whereupon,
STAFFER 01,
being first duly sworn or affirmed to testify to the
truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, was
examined and testified as follows:
EXAMINATION MS. BENITEZ:

Q Thank you. We're on the record. My name 1s
Indhira Benitez. I'm an investigative counsel with
the Office of Congressional Ethics. I'm joined here
by my colleague, Annie Cho. This is the interview of
Mr. Staffer 0l1. He is represented by counsel, Mr.
Elliot Berke, who are both present with us here today.
I have advised Staffer 01 of the False Statements Act,
and he's acknowledged and signed the acknowledgment.
And like I mentioned, Staffer 01, please feel free to
stop me if you need a break. All right.

MR. BERKE: Before we get started, I just
want to reiterate what we were told prior to going on
the record that Staffer 01 is here a third party
witness, is here voluntarily. There's no option

otherwise since, you know, he doesn't have the power

PLANET DEPOS
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to compel. And while everything he says today is
going to be truthful to the best of his recollection,
he nevertheless reserves the right to supplement his
interview today with any information that should come
to his attention subsequent to it.

MS. BENITEZ: Absolutely. Thank you.
BY MS. BENITEZ:

0 So, Staffer 01, why don't we start with some
background info about you. Where are you from? How
did you end up on the Hill?

A So initially from Sheffield Village, Ohio,
which is just outside of Cleveland. Born and raised
there. And you just want, like, schooling or what do
you want?

Q Sure. Where did you go to school?

A I went to kindergarten through 8th grade at
a small Christian school called Westside Christian
Academy. It's in Westlake, Ohio. Went to high school
at Open Door Christian Schools in Elyria, Ohio.
Graduated from there in 2017 and went to Grand Canyon
University out in Phoenix, Arizona. Following my

graduation there, my first -- you know, as soon as I

PLANET DEPOS
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was done with college, I was brought on to the Trump
Victory Campaign/Ohio Republican Party. They were
kind of joint there, and I worked there. And then was
the political director for Josh Mandel's U.S. Senate
Campaign in Ohio. And then following our primary
election loss in May of 2022, I moved -- was offered a
position on Long Island for now Congressman Santos,
and I accepted the position. We were -- you know,
ended up being victorious in the race and was —-- now
I'm here in Washington, D.C., working in the office
for Congressman Santos.

Q How were you offered the position? How did

you connect with the congressman?

A Like the position on the campaign?

Q Yes. On the campaign. I'm sorry.

A Yeah. So after the May primary in Ohio, we
came up short. And I -- you know, I can't remember

how many days it was later, but it was, you know,
maybe a -- you know, a week, approximately a week
later. After that, I received a call from a political
consultant or a political consulting firm that said

that they had a race that they, you know, thought I

PLANET DEPOS
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might be interested in on Long Island and -- or they
said, you know, we were looking for someone to manage
the end of this campaign. And that's how I got
connected. It was just my phone rang, and I picked it
up.

0 And what year was this?

A This is 2022.

Q Okay.

A So the primary that I was working on in Ohio
was, to my best recollection, May 3 of '22.

Q Uh-huh.

A And then shortly after that was —-- received
a call from a political consulting firm and started

with then Candidate Santos. My contract began on June

1, 2022.

Q What was your role in the campaign for the
congressman?

A I was the campaign manager.

Q And as the campaign manager, what were your
duties? What was your -- kind of your every day on

the campaign trail like?

A Yeah, so, obviously, you know, to my best

PLANET DEPOS
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recollection just from -- you know, he had started his
campaign or launched his campaign in the beginning
part of 2021. So this is kind of the end of the camp
-- tail end of the campaign starting in, you know,
June 1. So I was brought in mainly for two purposes,
which was to do what, you know, I had experienced in,
which was like political grassroots, grassroots
organizing, and then also help with the, you know,
media operations. So getting the congressman or the
then Candidate Santos earned media, you know, having,
you know, interviews, op-eds, things like that. So --
but, you know, kind of -- those are really the two
specialty areas that I had -- that I was brought in to

do, amongst, you know, other general campaign

activity.

Q Were you a volunteer or were you paid on the
campaign?

A I was paid.

Q Were there any other campaign employees?

Who else was working with you on the campaign?

A Yes. There were other camp other employees
on —-- yeah, on Santos' campaign, yes.
PLANET DEPOS
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Q How many?
A So you're talking directly, not like

consultants, but like directly employed from the
campaign, or?

0 Yes.

A Okay. To my best recollection, I believe
there was one or two that were directly, you know,
Just like to the -- to my best recollection, one or
two that were directly from the campaign. But there
was also a handful of other, you know, consultants and
things like that that --

MR. BERKE: One or two in addition to you or
one or two total.

THE WITNESS: 1In addition to me. One that I
know. I'm not sure what the -- you know, some of the
contract structures were already put in place by the
time I was there, but like -- you know, to my best
recollection, one or two in addition to me.

Q Did you oversee any of the campaign staff,
or were you supervising any of the campaign staff?

A Well, yes, you know, I was the, as the

campaign manager, someone who was you know,
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responsible for giving direction.

0 Who were the other two staffers?
A So we had Gabrielle Lipsky. And then the
one that I -- that I'm not sure if he was a direct

campaign employee or i1f it was consulting was, you

know, I -- was Kevin Connors. I'm not sure if he was
paid on -- you know, if he was consultant, technically
or a ——- you know a direct member of the campaign.

Q What was Kevin's role in the campaign?

A So Kevin came on towards the end, you know,

during my time there, and he was there helping. So he
was someone who was born and raised in the district,
and he was someone who understood that the district
and he helped out in a range of different areas,
including driving the then Candidate Santos, you know,
driving him, helping advance at events. We would have
a, you know -- let's just say we had -- we were at a
booth at the Chamber of Commerce Street Fair, and he
would get there earlier and put the table up. Put the
tablecloth and literature and all that kind of stuff
out there so that -- you know, it -- so that's, you

know, I would say mainly where his responsibility --
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you know, he was willing to help out with, you know, a
range of different, you know, common campaign
activities. But, you know, his -- the primary
objectives were -- the primary things were just for
that.

0 And what was Gabrielle's role?

A She was the press secretary on the campaign,
so she was doing, you know, media stuff, press
releases, things like -- just things of that nature.

Q You mentioned that you were paid. How were

you paid, and how often were you paid?

A You know, I'm sorry if I understand the
question. So like -- by how was I paid --
0 Was it through a direct wire with your bank?

Was it through a check? Was it --

A Yes, I was —-- I received direct deposits on
a monthly basis.

Q When you say monthly basis once a month or
every two weeks?

A Yes. To my best recollection, it was just
once a month that we would receive it.

Q Were you an employee of the campaign --
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while you were employed by the campaign, do you know
if you were an independent contractor or if you were a
full employee?

A I was —-- so when I started out on the
campaign -- or I was brought on my contract, I was a

-- not a like 1099. I was like an employee of the --

Q Okay.
A A W2 employee of the campaign.
Q Can you talk a little bit more about -- I

know you described your role generally, but a little
more about your day-to-day duties as campaign manager?

A Sure. So, you know, on a typical day on the
campaign, you know, we begin with, you know,
gathering, you know, the team together, kind of going
over what is on today's schedule. We did a lot of,
you know, local events. We would visit local small
businesses. We would go visit, you know, some small
businesses. We had a good like get-out-the-vote kind
of strategy, and you know, it was surrounded with door
knocking and phone calling and things like that. So
we would kind of get everybody on the same page and

figure -- lay out what the events were that day, go
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through the candidate schedule, and, you know, then we
kind of would all, you know, not go our separate ways,
but kind of go into our separate categories of what we
were supposed to be doing and preparing for that day.
Weekends, obviously, were filled with street fairs,
shaking hands with voters, getting out the vote, door
launches, things like that. All very, you know, Jjust
common get-out-the-vote things that -- things that,
you know, I've worked on, you know, a number of
different -- worked on or volunteered with a number of
different campaigns. And -- but you know, thing --
very —-- you know, coming in at the end, very typical
things at the of campaigns, just getting out the vote.
And what you do generally the summer before Election
Day.

Q How often does the campaign travel outside
of the district or outside of New York?

A So you're saying like which -- so I guess to
clarify which -- which one are you asking about?
Outside of the district, or outside of the state?

o) Let's start with outside of the district

first.
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A Yeah. I would say outside of the district,
it was maybe like you know, more towards the
beginning. It was maybe once, you know, to my
recollection, maybe once a week. And then really at
the end, you're -- it's a waste of the campaign time
to be outside of the district because you're just
campaigning to the voters. And so that -- maybe once

a week towards the beginning, and towards the end, it

was very —-- it was much more limited.
Q What about outside of the state?
A Outside of the state, you know, to my best

recollection, in the time I was on the campaign, it
was very, very limited. You know, I would say maybe
at the beginning of the -- from the beginning of my
time working with the congressman, it was maybe once a
month or once every -- yeah, maybe once a month, and
then -- for maybe the first month or so, and then
there was not really any travel outside of the state
in the last month. Would that be like three months of
campaign?

o) And when there was travel outside of the

state, did all of the campaign staffers go? So you,
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Gabrielle, and Kevin would travel as well?

A So it would be -- it would vary. So we
definitely would never take like the full team with
us. It would generally be one, maybe two. Like to my
best recollection, I only remember, you know, maybe
two or three times that she had -- or, you know, that
the campaign had taken an out-of-the-state kind of
trip. And it typically was just one person that would
be accompanying the then Candidate Santos. And maybe
-- and there was, you know, to my recollection, maybe
one occasion where there would be -- that where like
two of us would be there with him. But like mainly, I
think, for that particular time, it was mainly a
logistics kind of thing, and having another staff
there who helped out with the logistics and moving
from point A to point B.

0 And in those few instances where the
campaign did travel out of state, where would you go?

A So one, you know, they would be trips to
trips here to Washington, D.C. for, you know, meetings
of folks here. And then, to my best recollection, I

believe Florida. Florida was -- the only other one
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was to Florida.
Q Do you recall what events were held in
Florida?
A Yes, just a fundraising event with multiple

candidates from across the country that were coming
together and, you know, speaking with -- speaking, you
know, Jjust somebody gathering a handful of donors, and
they would go and speak to the donors, and they had a
chance to kind of share their platform and why they're
running and introduce themselves.

Q Was there ever a time where the congressman
would travel out of state without any of the campaign
staffers?

A Not to my recollection. No, I don't recall

a time where that was the case, at least on my time

during the campaign. I don't -- you know, my best
recollection, I -- you know, I don't recall any.
Q And the two trips you just mentioned to

Washington, D.C. and Florida, were you at both of
those events?
A Yes, ma'am.

Q And do you -- you know -- do you recall
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going to any other events in any other cities or
states?

A I don't recall -- none out of state,
obviously. There were a couple of trips into, you
know, where -- the district is just outside of New
York City, so there was a couple of trips, obviously,
into New York City. But anything outside of the
state, I -- other than Washington and Florida, I don't
recall any additional.

Q You mentioned that one of the other
staffers, Kevin -- I'm sorry, I can't remember his
last name.

A Connors.

0 Connors. Kevin Connors mostly dealt with
what sounds like operations with the campaign.

A Yes, ma'am.

Q And also transported the congressman around
the district in New York. How did the congressman get
around in New York when he was traveling to different
campaign events?

A Most of the time, he'd be either driving

himself or be driven by, you know, an operations
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director there or, as you described, Kevin driving or
one of us, or he would drive himself, like one or two,
but it was always via just car.

0O Would Kevin drive the congressman in his

personal vehicle, or would he drive the congressman's

vehicle?
A It would be in a campaign leased vehicle.
Q And what was the campaign leased vehicle.
A Like the make, model? 1Is that what --
0 Yes.
A Nissan -- Nissan Rogue, I believe it was --

yeah, from my best recollection, Nissan Rogue.

Q Did everyone on the campaign staff have
access to the campaign vehicle?

A Yes. Yes, ma'am. Like if they were --
yeah, 1t was there, and anybody who needed to use it,
you know, could, you know, have access to that.

Q Was there ever a time where someone needed
the vehicle, someone else was driving it, and other
alternative accommodations needed to be scheduled?

A I don't recall a particular time where that

was the case.
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Q Do you know what kind of car the congressman
drives?
A I don't recall the exact model. I mean, I

know he has a car, but I couldn't tell you exactly
what the car like was. Like I'm sure I've seen 1it,
but I don't recall what the exact car is.

Q How often would you say campaign staff was
driving the campaign vehicle?

A On a daily basis? We were pretty much, you
know -- I mean, on campaigns, it's pretty nonstop,
especially at the end of campaigns. And pretty much
on a daily basis, you're going somewhere or multiple

places every day.

Q Did the campaign staff ever take Ubers
anywhere?
A I don't recall anybody ever having to take

an Uber, not to my best recollection, no.

Q Do you recall if you personally, while you
were working a campaign event, had to take an Uber --
excuse me.

A Like in -- while in the district?

Q Yes.
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A Yeah. I don't recall -- I do not recall
having to ever take an Uber for two or from campaign
events.

Q Do you recall ever having to take Ubers for
events outside of the district? So when you came to
D.C. or when you were in Florida?

A Yes. There would be times then that would
-- you know, when we were here, you know, in D.C. or
like outside, yes. We would Uber around rather than
renting a vehicle in the city that we're in.

Q And to the best of your recollection, you
only remember those two occasions where you traveled
outside of the city to D.C. and Florida?

A Yes, to the best of my recollection, yeah.
There was just the -- and, you know, the congressman
-— the then Candidate Santos -- I'm wanting to say one
time, like -- I could be wrong, maybe 1t was two times
he came to Washington, but, you know, one or two times
in D.C., and then in Florida. But like other than
those two places, that would be the only things that I
can recall that were places that he went that were

like outside of the state.
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Q And did --

A For his -- you know, for the campaign and
things like that.

Q I'm not sure if we covered this already, but
did the congressman ever travel alone outside of -- to
the best of your knowledge, outside of the state, to
other cities?

A I don't -- to the best of my recollection,
he was never completely alone. They would -- like we
had consultants in different places and fundraisers
and things like that that he would be with that if --
that he -- like anywhere he would go, like if he was
-— especially if he was coming here if like, for some
reason, I couldn't or before my time there, my guess
is if someone couldn't accompany him, there'd be --
the fundraiser because they would also be there with
us when we were there.

Q Do you remember who the consultants were
that were also working on the campaign at the same
time that you were?

A Yes.

Q Who were they?
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A Like all of them, or like -- or any -- like
just all the consultants in general or like any
particular area.

Q Were there a lot of consultants at the time?

A Well, there were a handful of folks that
were working with us, so we had general consultants.
We had, you know, fundraising and, you know, like
finance consultants as well.

Q Who were the consultants that you or other
campaign staffers or the congressman had the most
interaction with on a day-to-day basis?

A Yeah, so as the campaign manager, I would
work with the general consultants, which -- a
gentleman by the name of Chris Grant, sorry, just
Chris Grant and Eric Pauls. And then on the finance
side, we would -- I would talk with, or we'd have
communication with Leanna Farnese, who was our finance
director that was -- she was a consultant but was, you
know, working in that finance director type of
capacity that was kind of organizing.

MS. CHO: Could you repeat her name again?

THE WITNESS: Leanna Farnese.
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MS. CHO: Thank you.

Q And those are the main consultants that you
all work with primarily on your day-to-day?

A Correct, day-to-day, yes. Yes, ma'am.

Q I want to talk about the campaign bank
accounts because I imagine working a campaign, a lot
of money needs to be spent on a day-to-day. Who had
access to the campaign bank accounts?

A The bank accounts directly, to my best
recollection, was the treasurer and compliance, her
and her team; Nancy Marks and her team, Campaigns
Unlimited was their firm that they handled all of the
money, bank accounts and things like that. And they
were the ones that were paying -- you know, so they
were the ones that paying like invoices and things
like that. And -- yeah, so they were the ones that
were handling the invoice payments and things like
that. So they were the ones that were controlling --

had control of the bank accounts.

Q What accounts did the campaign have?
A Like bank accounts?
0 Yes, bank accounts.
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A I don't == I'm not aware of what bank
accounts or like banks and accounts. There were like
-—- that wasn't something that I was handling.

Q Who was keeping track of the cash on hand
for the campaign?

A So that would have been our compliance team,
Nancy Marks and her team. They would we would have a,
you know, a weekly, you know, just like check in, just
to —-- which is customary for all campaigns. We'd
have, you know, just like our weekly morning -- or
weekly call and go over every part of the campaign.

We get there, we'd be able to track that way,, what
was our cash on hand. They would send like -- you
know, like they would say like here's kind of like the
weekly update, like here's our cash on hand, and
things like that. So that was the way that our team
was able to kind of keep track of those things.

MS. CHO: So you said that Nancy Marks was
largely responsible for the invoice tracking, things
like that.

THE WITNESS: Yes.

MS. CHO: Was there a process or system in
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place within the campaign in terms of how you guys
were to keep track of receipts when you're submitting
it to Nancy?

THE WITNESS: So we would obviously save the
receipts, and receipts would be saved and submitted
over to Nancy and her team. Are you saying also when
you want to know about process, are you saying
invoice, like, how invoices would be handled as well?

MS. CHO: Or just like -- so let's say you
guys are at a campaign event. You Uber, or you're out
and you have receipts.

THE WITNESS: Uh-huh.

MS. CHO: What is the process like? How
does that then get to Nancy?

THE WITNESS: Yeah, they would be -- we
would save all the receipts, and then periodically,
you know, we would either to her or if she was at, you
know, an event that we were at, we would hand over the
receipts that we had for the -- at -- you know, at
that given time.

Q What -- sorry. Who had access to a campaign

debit card or credit card?
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A Yeah, so there were a couple -- there was a
few cards. I don't recall who all had them. I know I
personally had one. I believe that there was a --
like a card that Nancy had had. I believe the
candidate had one as well. So those are the -- those
are, to my best recollection, the cards.

Q Do you know if --

A And there might have been -- sorry. I
believe there was also one more. To my best
recollection, I believe Kevin Conners also had one

for, you know, putting fuel and stuff like that in the

cars.
Q Was it a credit card or a debit card?
A I believe it was credit. I think it was --
I think, to my recollection, it was one that -- it

could be like hybrid, but it could be used as credit,
and it was being run via credit.

Q Do you know if Ms. Gabrielle Lipsky had

access to any of the cards?
A I don't recall her -- it was -- I know she
didn't. I don't believe she had her own card, no.
Q Was the campaign staff ever instructed on
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how to use the campaign card or what to use it for?

A Generally, how it would -- how the -- it
would work was like they would, you know, ask -- you
know, nobody was really just like running free with
the cards. It was like letting us know, I'm going to,
you know, put gas in the car. I'm going to get the
0il changed in the car or whatever, or I'm going to
pick up breakfast sandwiches for volunteers who are
coming in to knock doors on Saturday, things like
that. So there wasn't like, to my best recollection,
any just like free rein with the cards.

Q And when you say that, normally someone
would be announcing that they were going to be using

the card, who would they be saying it to?

A It was —- I guess sometimes it'd be me,
sometimes Candidate Santos. You know, he would -- you
know, he would give that authorization and like -- or

I would, and for myself, it was typically just like
things simple, like filling up the car with gas or
buying water bottles for volunteers or something like
that.

Q How often would you or the rest of the
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campaign staff give Ms. Marks invoices and receipts?

A So those, I think, are two different things.
So receipts -- or, I'm sorry, invoices, it would
generally be as we received them, we would forward
them over. And then there would be a process on how
those would get approved and then ultimately paid.
And receipts, it was periodic just in terms of like
if, you know, whenever we'd be seeing her at an event,
we would -- we'd make sure we'd bring them, or if
there was an extended period of time we weren't, and
somebody was visiting her to drop -- you know, it was
somebody was headed out that way to pick up, you know,
whatever, lawn signs or whatever, we would just send
them with whoever was going out to pick those up.

Q Who had access to the campaign's checkbook?

A To my best recollection, it would have been
Candidate Santos and then Nancy Marks and her team,
the compliance team. I -- you now, again, to my best
recollection, those would be the only folks that would
have had.

MS. CHO: You mentioned that you guys would,

with the invoices, when you receive them, you would
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just forward them on to Nancy. Is that through email?
THE WITNESS: Yes, ma'am.

Q Who was in charge of booking travel and
accommodations when a need arose to travel outside of
the district?

A Generally, then Candidate Santos was booking
his own stuff, booking the travel, trip himself.

Q Where did the campaign work out of?

A So we worked out of two locations at
different times. So the office moved. So when I
first arrived on the scene in June, early -- June 1,
there was no headquarters or office. There hadn't
been a headquarters opened yet. We then started
working out of like a -- we then got like an office
and kind of like a shared work type of environment in
Great Neck, and we were there, to my best

recollection, for, you know, maybe a couple of months

at most until we moved into a storefront and -- or
like a -- you know, like a more like storefront-ish.
It kind of has -- it was a -- it almost looked like a

house. A house that had been kind of turned into like

more of a storefront. We were working out of that in
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Oyster Bay. So it was more of like a place where
people could walk up and, you know, interact with
them.

Q Where did the congressman stay or reside
while he was in the district campaigning?

A To my best knowledge, he -- you know, we --
he identified that his residence was in a place in
Whitestone, and then towards the end of the campaign,
he moved out of his place in Whitestone and was -- or
I believe he was, yes, because he had told us he was
like a transition between places, and -- but I don't
remember the exact location of wherever he went was.

Q Were there any campaign events held in his
home?

A Not at -- not during his nighttime on the
campaign, no.

Q Did you ever have an opportunity to visit
his home?

A Not more than just dropping him off. I
never entered his home, no.

Q Do you know about other campaign staffers

and whether they had an opportunity to visit his home?
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A Not to my knowledge, but I -- you know, I
can't for them, but not to my knowledge, no.

MS. CHO: I kind of want to go over a couple
of time frames. Going back to the office location for
the campaign. You said that you started off in a
shared workplace out in Great Neck and then moved
eventually into more of a storefront location in
Oyster Bay.

THE WITNESS: Yes, ma'am.

MS. CHO: How long were you guys in the
shared workspace?

THE WITNESS: I don't recall the exact
time, but as I mentioned, no more than, you know, a
month and a half, two months would be my guess, but I
can't -- I don't recall the dates.

MS. CHO: And you don't recall when this
was?

THE WITNESS: To my best recollection, it
maybe --it was probably July and a little bit into
August. Maybe, you know, so around that time frame.

MS. CHO: 20222

THE WITNESS: Yes, ma'am.

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM

23-4827_0034




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

Transcript of Interview of Staffer 01
Conducted on March 23, 2023 33

MS. CHO: And then -- so around August '22
is when you moved to the Oyster Bay location or the
campaign did?

THE WITNESS: Yes, ma'am.

MS. CHO: Okay. Then with regards to the
Congressman's residential location, Whitestone, do you
know until when he resided there?

THE WITNESS: I don't recall the exact date
or time. Everything was obviously moving very quickly
on the campaign, and like -- and so I don't -- like I
don't recall exactly, you know, the date.

MS. CHO: But towards the end of the
campaign is when, you know, he eventually moved out?

THE WITNESS: Yes, ma'am. So he was --
yeah, in the process of moving out, and I don't know
where exactly he -- like I said, I don't recall where
he was residing.

MS. CHO: Do you have like a time frame of
when he was starting that adjustment?

THE WITNESS: I would say mid-October. To
my best recollection, being mid-October. Really

towards the end of it.
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MS. CHO: Okay.
BY MS. BENITEZ:

Q I want to move back to some of the instances
where you and the campaign traveled outside of the
city or outside of the state for campaign events. How
would you -- would you personally book your
accommodations in D.C. or Florida, or who would be in
charge of myself?

A Myself personally?

Q Yeah.
A No, it was not me. As I mentioned earlier,
generally, Congressman -- or then Candidate Santos was

booking his travel.

Q And he would book the travel for the staffer
that was coming along with him?

A Yes, ma'am.

Q Do you have any, I guess, opinion on any
out-of-the-state travel that the congressman did?
Throughout the course of our investigation, we've
collected documents, and amongst those documents are
the campaign's bank statements, some of the campaign's

bank statements that indicate that there was several
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-— travel to and from Florida, Palm Beach, Miami. Do
you have any idea what was going on in Florida, why
the campaign bank account would be reflecting so much
travel in Florida?

MR. BERKE: The travel preceding Staffer
01's tenure with the campaign?

MS. BENITEZ: The travel was for the year of
2022. So while he was working for the campaign.

A Yeah. So as I mentioned, there would be
occasional like I said, outside of the trips -- or
outside-of-the-state, trips would be strictly
fundraising related. And, I'm sorry. Can I be given
like refresh --

Q Yeah.

A Like is there -- I guess like can you
refresh me on the dates? Because like I said, like to
-- you know, those few times were the only ones that I
recalled off the top of my head. But if there are
others, like I'm happy -- you know -- a lot of stuff
happened, so I'm happy to f£ill in any.

Q Absolutely. There were several dates, some

at the beginning of January, January 12.
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Of 20227

Yeah, of 2022.

And I would not have been on the campaign.
You came on in June?

Yes. Yes, ma'am, June 1.

(O I O S S

So I can give you some dates.
THE COURT REPORTER: I'm sorry, Ms. Benitez.
I caught -- lost the tail end of that. Could you
repeat?
MS. BENITEZ: Just going to find dates after
June 2022.
THE COURT REPORTER: Thank you.
Q Do you recall any fundraising events in
Atlantic City in July of 20222
A That I attended or that were on the books in
general?
Q Either that you attended or that were on the

books in general?

A None that I attended. I was not aware of
any, you know, that -- I did not attend any. But, you
know, there could have been -- you know, I guess there

could have been. I don't recall off the top of my
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head, you know, every --I don't recall. But, yeah, I
know that he was traveling. That would have been,
like, around the time when he was, you know, trying to
bring in a -- you know, get little last fundraising
push before we did the home stretch. So it's not out
of the realm of possibility. I don't remember the
exact event, basically.

Q Do you recall a fundraising or campaign
event in September of 2022 in Memphis?

A I'm sorry, where?

Q Tennessee. Memphis, Tennessee.

A I -- the -- once again, there could have
been. I know that he -- you know, I don't recall.
Like I said, I wasn't at any of the -- I wasn't at the
event, but I can -- I could try to go back and recall
and try to figure but like I said, I don't recall.

Q That's fine.

A But, you know, I don't remember every event
that was on there.

Q Do you recall a fundraising event in Miami
in October 202272

A With it now that you've refreshed there, I
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do remember him taking a trip down there, but I --

once again, I was not present on that trip or -- but

-- and yeah, I apologize. I didn't recall that one

earlier. But yeah, I do remember him towards the end

of the campaign now going down there for like, you

know, a late -- a final swing.

Q Do you remember who attended that event with

him?

A I do not recall exactly who would have, but

like I said, it would now -- you know, it was not me

or -—— and I don't recall it being either myself or
anyone that was directly (inaudible) campaign.
Q Do you recall a fundraising or campaign

event in Las Vegas in November of 20227

A This would be following the election,
correct?

Q Yes.

A Yeah. So that was a -- that was a -- yeah,

post-election. He attended the Republican Jewish

Coalition Conference in Las Vegas following the --

following his election, yes.
Q Do you know whether the congressman then
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traveled to Miami after the conference?

A I do -—- I don't recall, you know, where he
went after that. I know -- so I was with him at the
conference post the election, at the conference post
the election at the Republican Jewish Coalition
Conference there, but from there, I know we went -- we
both went our different ways because I had returned
home for -- I think it was Thanksgiving. It was
around Thanksgiving time.

Q So a quick Google search shows that that
convention was November 18 through the 20th of 2022.

Does that sound familiar?

A Yeah. That sounds correct.
Q Just the timing. Were you present for all
days, or was it -- was it a multi-day thing, or did he

only need to be present for one of the days?

A To my best recollection, we -- to my best
recollection, we were there maybe the last day or two,
but I don't recall being there for three days, no.

Q Are you familiar at all with a hotel called

The Breakers in Miami, Florida?
A Yes, I'm aware of what it is. Yes.
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Q Do you know whether the congressman has ever
stayed at this hotel?

A Yes, I believe he -- you know, to my best
recollection, he has.

Q Do you know or --

A Do you mind if I ask a quick clarifying
question? What was the date of the trip to Miami
following the conference? Following the conference in
Las Vegas?

Q Sure. November 19, 2022. So it would have
been right in the middle of the three-day conference.

A Okay. Thank you.

Q I know -- oh, just one more.

MS. CHO: Do you recall any sort of event
related to the campaign in December in Palm Beach,
Florida?

THE WITNESS: Yes, I do recall. I was not
present there, but it was like an event -- it was like
an event there in Palm. Beach, which was kind of like
one of the initial events that we're going to be
following. It was —-- that he did post the -- post

his, you know, election. But like I said, I was not
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present for that event.

MS. CHO: Do you know how long that event
was?

THE WITNESS: I don't recall how long the
event would have been.
BY MS. BENITEZ:

Q Do you know if the congressman ever stayed
in a hotel in New York or in the district?

A I don't recall the congressman ever staying
in a -- personally staying in a hotel, no.

Q Could you think of a reason why the
congressman would need to stay in a hotel in the
district or in New York?

A I don't recall any reasons why he would have
to stayed in a hotel, no, ma'am.

THE COURT REPORTER: I'm sorry, Staffer 01,
could you repeat the end of that answer?

THE WITNESS: I said I don't recall a -- you
know, to my best recollection, I don't recall a reason

the congressman or candidate would have a reason that

he would stay in a hotel within the district, no.
Q Was there ever a time the campaign worked
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out of or stayed at an Airbnb, specifically in July of

20227

A I can't recall the reason why -- like you're
saying -- like direct -- like somebody like within the
district or out of the district, or like -- could you
clarify?

Q Unclear where the Airbnb was, but I would

assume if it was (indiscernible), it would be in the
district. So was there ever a time the campaign staff
or the campaign worked out of an Airbnb?

A I don't believe any staff was actually
working out of any kind of Airbnb, no, ma'am.

Q And in our records, and I will pull this out
so you can take a look. I'm showing the witness a
document Bates stamped THGS0038. There was a July 6,
2022, Airbnb charge for $3,332.81. Do you have any
idea what that could have been?

A You know, nothing concrete. Just like
speculation as -- about -- you know, I can just -- I
can toss out ideas, but like, you know, in terms of
like —--

MR. BERKE: If you don't know, you don't
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know.
THE WITNESS: Yeah.
Q Yeah.
A I don't believe that -- yeah, I mean, I
don't remember -- I don't recall ever having, you

know, used, you know, the app Airbnb or anything like
that to make any purchase. I don't recall those
purchases being made.

MR. BERKE: Are you able to tell who
actually made the purchase, or is it just a straight-
up charge?

MS. BENITEZ: It's just a charge on the
campaign debit, debit account.

THE WITNESS: Do you mind if we take a quick
pause, and can I use the restroom?

MS. BENITEZ: Sure. Can we get off the
record, please?

(A recess was taken from 8:48 a.m. until 8:52
a.m.)

THE COURT REPORTER: And we're back on the

record.

MS. BENITEZ: Oh, Lucas, I think you're
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muted.

THE COURT REPORTER: My apologies, Counsel.
I said we're back on the record.

MS. BENITEZ: Excellent.

MR. BERKE: So with respect to that charge,
Staffer 01 has no recognition or knowledge of it. The
campaign did rent him a room. He doesn't know how it
was paid, so it could be possible that covered his

room, but he has no other knowledge of it.

BY MS. BENITEZ:
Q The campaign rented you or the congressman?
Sorry, you or --
A Me personally.
Q Okay.
A Moving from Ohio.
Q Okay.
MR. BERKE: So if that was done through
Airbnb, it -- that could be --
THE WITNESS: I have no knowledge.
MR. BERKE: He has no knowledge of it.
MS. BENITEZ: Yeah. There's no knowledge.
Q So do you recall when that room was rented
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and for how long?

A To my best -- I mean, I move in it when I
first came to -- when I first got there, which would
have been -- I believe I -- to my best recollection, I

landed on the ground in New York, like the 2nd or the
3rd, so I started on the 1lst, but then I worked a day
or two remotely until I was able to get my stuff

gathered up and be able to actually move there on the

ground.

Q So how long was the room rented for?

A And, you know, I lived there, to my best
recollection, like -- I would estimate, you know, two
months could be my best recollection, best knowledge.

Q What is Cleaners 123, LLC. Are you familiar
with that at all?

A Not really. That would be my -- like my
guess would be that would be similar to -- can I -- do
you have like record of it? And I -- because I think
that that could be the --

Q So there are some checks from the campaign
made out to that company.

A Yeah. Is there like an address on file for
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it? Because that might -- that will be helpful.

Q There is no address on file. It's just a
check made out to the company. And I'm showing the
witness a document Bates stamped THGS0044. Sorry
about that. Are you familiar with that company at
all?

A Not any more than just having -- like I am
not familiar with it outside of just like having seen
it in news articles and stuff like that.

Q Do you know what Jericho Share Healthcare
Ministry 1is?

A I'm not exactly aware of what it is. You
know, there's -- Jericho is part of the district, so I
can imagine it's some, you know, type of organization
within the district, but I'm not exactly aware of
exactly what that is.

Q Are you aware of any campaign event that

took place at an amusement park after you started

working on the campaign?
A I don't recall. Do you what -- do you have
the name of it?
Q Yes. Adventureland Amusement Park. June 22
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of 2022.
A I don't recall anything at an amusement park
to my best recollection. I don't -- I --
Q Was there ever a time where any of the

staffers or the congressman had to go to urgent care

during the summer of 2022, to the best of your

recollection?
A I can't remember. To my best recollection,
no. No.
Q But you never went?
A I never -- no, I never went, no. No, ma'am.
Q I'm going to show you a document, Bates

stamp THGS0048. We're still dealing with the bank
statements here. And there is a charge here for City
MD, which is an urgent care center in New York for
$225. Do you have any idea what that could be?

A I do not recall what that could be, no. I
don't -- I know I don't -- at least in my best
recollection, that wasn't a purchase that I had made.

Q I'm now showing the witness a document Bates
stamped THGS0041l. And I'm just drawing your attention

to the highlighted charge here, which is a debit
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purchase at the Virtual Skin Spa in Jericho for
$1,400. So this is a cosmetic spa. Quick Google
search told me that. Do you have any idea what that

charge could be?

A I don't recall. I think if I -- to my best
recollection, I believe -- like I remember the -- like
the place, like I remember that that was -- like I

remember seeing the building, and I remember the
congress -- or the then candidate had -- was -- you
know, he had spoken about it. I don't exactly -- I
don't recall what that charge exactly would have been
from the campaign side. No, ma'am.

Q Would there have been -- let me rephrase
that. As someone who has worked on campaigns before,
would there have been a legitimate campaign purpose
for that expenditure at a cosmetic skin spa on the
campaign?

A I don't recall any times in past campaigns
where there was ever anything spent on cosmetics, I
mean, other than in past campaigns, like makeup and
things like that for like, you know, cosmetics for

makeup, media stuff, but I don't recall, no.
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Q And earlier, you mentioned that -- when we
were talking about you moving here for this role, that
you were paid through direct deposit.

A Yes, ma'am.

Q So were the taxes already taken out of your
payment, your check, when you received it?

A Yes, ma'am. So it was a little complicated
at first because there was -- I -- to my best
recollection, I believe the first paycheck I received,
they were not taken out of. So then we had to go --
like I took it back to them and they had to go and
adjust things. But yes, I was a W2 employee that, you
know, after the correction was made, and adjustments
were made all --- so they adjusted that one, and then
from then on out, everything was correct and taxes
were taken out correctly.

Q And to the best of your recollection, excuse

me, that was only one paycheck that needed to be

adjusted?
A Yes, my best recollection, I believe it was
just the first one. I could check, but like the -- to

my best recollection, it was just the first paycheck.
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And then I noticed, and then I asked them if the

second check was dusted, and then the -- you know.

Q

Can I ask how much you were paid each check?

If you remember, you don't have to.

A

i O S ©)

Post-tax version?
Yes.

Oh, that --

Doesn't have to be exact, just a ballpark.

Oh, was it -- I can try to pull it up. I

can try to pull it up here or --

Q

A
Q
A

Sure.
Yeah. I just don't want to give --
That's totally fine.

I'm not the guy that kind of generally is

always like

MS. BENITEZ: We can go off the record wh

he -- just so you're not picking up the chatter.

(A recess was taken from 9:00 a.m. until 9:02

a.m.)

the witness tried to locate their prior pay stub, the

MS. BENITEZ: Just so the record reflects

record of payment.

ile

r

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM

23-4827_0052



10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

Transcript of Interview of Staffer 01
Conducted on March 23, 2023 51

BY MS. BENITEZ:

Q And I'll just ask you that again. Do you
remember approximately how much you were paid per
month while you were working for the campaign?

A To my best recollection, I believe it was
pretax, 7,000 per month.

Q Which -- I could probably do some quick math
and figure out the taxes for that, but I won't do
that. Which probably put you anywhere from four to
5,000 post-taxes per month.

A Yeah, that sounds correct.

Q I'm now showing the witness a document,
Bates stamped THGS0049 and THGS0067. So, Staffer 01,
I'm showing you here -- you see here there is an
August 30 charge on this bank statement for $8,476.98.
Says Staffer 01 three months' taxes, June, July. I'm
assuming that was supposed to be cut off there.

A Uh-huh.

Q Does this look right to you, what you --
does this look like the amount of money that should
have been coming out of your paychecks?

A It should have been coming out -- for three
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months? That -- I -- you know, I'm not, you know, an
expert on taxes, but I would say that approximately
looks correct if we're saying -- you know, if it's,
you know, anywhere from two to 3,000 per month. So
three months of taxes at, you know, two or 3,000,
we're -- I have --

Q You mentioned that when you first moved,
there was a hiccup with one of your paychecks where
the taxes weren't taken out.

A Correct.

Q But then moving forward after that first
paycheck, everything was resolved. So the taxes were

being taken out of your paychecks after that first

paycheck?
A Yes, ma'am, to my best recollection, yes.
Q Is there any reason there would then be a

charge for taxes being retroactively taken out of your
paycheck for more than one month?

A Well, the -- I believe that -- well, the way
that it was explained to me was that they were like
adjusting it. The next paycheck or whatever was taken

out whatever should have been taken out initially for
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the -- like I said, to my best recollection, it was
just the one month. I'd have to go back and look at
like my pay stubs or like my bank statement to figure
out exactly what it was, because it's obviously pretty
easy to figure out. There's one that's 7000 on the
dot. And so that would be -- to my best recollection
would be it.

Q Do you know how the payroll system worked
for the campaign staff?

A In terms of like --

Q When you guys were paid, do you know -- you
mentioned that the taxes were already taken out of
your paycheck. Do you know where the money was coming
from, if it was coming from a campaign account, if it
was coming from the congressman's personal account?

A I was not aware of that. We had a
compliance team that, you know, was handling that
stuff for us, so I was not involved in any kind of --
or, you know, I wasn't involved or aware of how the,
you know, payroll system worked.

Q And the second document here, Bates stamp

ending in 067, it's a similar charge here for October
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28. I says taxes, Staffer 01 and Gabby for $3,666.50.
Do you have any idea?

A Yeah. Like -- yeah, again, you know, I'm
not aware, or I wasn't aware of how the payroll system
and tax removing system worked. The extent of my
involvement was only, you know, if somebody, for some
reason, were to not, you know, get their paycheck on
time --

0 Right.

A -- just to alert the compliance team, and I
-—- you know, to my knowledge, I don't recall that ever
being the case either.

Q Who is Julie Santos?

A I don't know who that -- I don't -- to best
of my knowledge, I don't know who Julie --

MS. CHO: She was never a campaign staffer
or consultant on the campaign?

THE WITNESS: Not at the time I was on the
campaign, no.

Q What about Vernon Hill? Do you know who
that is?

A I've —— like I've heard the name, but I
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don't -- to my recollection, I don't know exactly who
that is, and I don't believe that I've ever come
across them, but I've -- I mean, I've heard of the
name.

Q And you've never worked with Brennan Hill on
the campaign?

A No, ma'am, not directly, to the best of my
knowledge.

Q And to the best of your knowledge, Vernon
Hill is not a consultant with the campaign?

A Yeah, not to the best of my knowledge.

Q And I want to move on now to some very quick
topics that have been covered in the press. What can
you tell me about the personal loans the congressman
has made to the campaign?

A To the best -- you know, to the of my
knowledge, like he had put in -- and it was being
reported as like, give or take, $700,000. I believe,
to the best of my knowledge, this was done in
increments, and I -- you know, believe that there was
a portion of the money that was actually put into the

campaign before I was on board, so I -- like I said, I
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can't attest to that, obviously. And then, you know,
he obviously put money in there at the end of the
campaign. But outside of like it just being there,
like I can't -- you know, I have no knowledge or any
recollection of any further details on that other than
that it was just money that -- put into the campaign.

Q Have you ever had a conversation with the
congressman about the public reporting regarding the
personal loans made to his campaign?

A Personal conversation in what regard? Like,
you know, he's mentioned these articles to me. But
like are you asking like specific conversations about
like where money came from or?

Q Yes. Any specific conversations that you're
aware of.

A I don't recall any conversations where we've
gotten into anything like that. Like, you know,
basically, there's been -- you know, he's -- you know,
we've seen the articles and stuff like that, but to

the best of my knowledge, I don't ever remember having

any specific conversations where we got into that.
Q And like you mentioned, you've seen the
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articles, so I'm sure you've seen the articles where I
believe the congressman has amended some filings
saying that $500,000 of the $700,000 loan did not, in
fact, come from his personal funds. What can you tell
me about that?

A I can't attest. I -- you know, I have --
you know, I have not had any conversations with him
about that, so I -- you know, to the best of my
knowledge, I don't really know, outside of just like
seeing an article, like much about that.

Q And what can you tell me about the
congressman's source of income? Was there ever a time
where you had any conversations with the congressman
about what he did before he was campaigning for
office?

A Yeah. So in -- you know, when you're on a
campaign with somebody, you know, like, you know, I
got -- you get to know the person. And like what I
was told was that, you know, he had a, you know,

company and that, you know, they helped bring either

investors or someone to buy something and, you know,
helped introduce them to someone. Like I don't -- to
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my knowledge, I don't think he ever, you know, said
that they were like brokering deals, but they were
like in the business of like introducing folks, but,
like -- and then, you know, he, you know, told --
explained his background when it came to, you know,
past jobs and -- but I was told -- you know, what I
was the same thing as he was telling everybody that,
you know -- obviously, there's now a lot of, you know,
questions about it, obviously, but I was just -- like
I was never like told anything else but, you know,
what he's been telling everybody else.

Q And since we're discussing public reporting,
I want to get into some allegations that were publicly
reported regarding who was a, I believe,
a former congressional aide. I was hoping you can
kind of shed some light on that.

A Yes. Swas never an employee
of the office. He is someone that an offer was
extended to, but the paperwork was never submitted as
the offer was withdrawn a short time after it was
offered.

Q How did you meet -- how and when did you
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A So, to my best recollection, he -- well, he

came to the office. He was brought into the office by
another staffer of our office and was -- this staffer
describe as, you know, someone who was a
friend and that we should get to know and he -- that
might be interested in working in the office. At the
time, we were looking for a staff assistant, someone
to, you know, go through mail, to answer the phones,
et cetera, and we were introduced to him. He stopped
by the office, and we met with him, and he seemed very
eager to work on it in the office. We were looking
for a staff assistant, so we tendered him an offer
later that day, and that was, to the best of my
knowledge, middle of January. Yes, it was the middle
of January. It was, you know, a few weeks into -- you
know, two or three weeks into -- we were in
approximately into the term, into office.

Q So your interactions withtook
place over the course of one day, two days?

A Yeah. So to my best recollection, he came

into the office. We interviewed him. We tendered him
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an offer later that evening or -- yeah, I think
there's -- later that day, early evening, and he

accepted the offer, and then he asked if he could, you
know, he asked if he could come in, whatever. I said,
you know, we'd be happy to have you come in and, you
know, meet the staff, meet the team and things like
that. And then -- so he came in, and so -- you know,
and he kind of just hung around there with us for a
day or -- you know, approximately a day or two. And
then at which time, it was brought to my attention
that there were some potential things, or there was,
you know, some articles and stuff about '
past that -- and past legal issues that were brought
to my attention that I wanted to step back and examine
if this was going to be a smart move for the office.
And so, you know consulted the office -- the House
Employment Counsel and worked directly with them to
kind of figure out the best way to handle this. And
we then instructed him to not come into the office
until his paperwork had cleared. You know, and then
he came -- or, so then we called him in, I think,

early the following week to have a meeting with him

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM

23-4827_0062




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

Transcript of Interview of Staffer 01
Conducted on March 23, 2023 61

because I wanted to -- you know I wanted him to be
able to have an opportunity to explain the articles
that I was seeing and wanted to give him an
opportunity to do that. So we brought him into the
office and let him explain the -- explain those
articles. And I think that's the infamous
conversation that was recorded. And -- yeah, so —--
and he left there, and then, to my best knowledge, it
was a day or so later that we -- a day or two later
that we called him and formally withdrew the offer.

Q So to the best of your knowledge, how many
times didinteract with the congressman?

A So, to the best of my knowledge, you know, I
-- it's tougher for me to say, I work in the back
office. He was hanging out in the middle room, you
know, there's a conference table there and stuff like
that. So I -- you know, don't have a ton of knowledge
and insight into how many -- you know, whether or not
he was or was not in, you know, the congressman's
office just because I have -- I was in the back
office, and that's where my desk is. But, you know, I

can only attest to the times when myself and the
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congressman andWNere in the congressman's office
at the same time.
Q Who was a staffer that you mentioned that

actually introduced WG EEERM to the rest of the

team?

A . He was the one that brought him
into the -- he -- yeah, he was the one who brought him
in and said that I think that we should talk to him
and, you know --

Q Do you know anything about their

relationship,Shal¥iand AAYCEER

A So at the time, I -- we did not. He was --
it was -- he was -- you know, SICUEIE told us that
he was just a friend, and we -- you know, now, we --

you know, I had asked RSl a couple questions
following all this. Like -- so like how did you meet
him or whatever? And like they had only known each
other, I guess, for like a week or two when he had
brought him into the office. And then -- but yeah,
that -- you know, outside of that, that's pretty much
the extent.

Q Did ever communicate with you via text

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM

23-4827_0064




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

Transcript of Interview of Staffer 01
Conducted on March 23, 2023 63

message?

A Yes, ma'am. Not very often, but there were
a couple of messages you sent me after.

Q The offer was rescinded, what was your
impression of

A To my best recollection of that time, he was
very disappointed, and it -- he was very disappointed
when we rescinded the offer, and, you know, he tried
calling me a couple of times that evening, but I
figured for the sake of just like, you know,
professionalism, I didn't really want to get too far
into it. Like we just -- we decided we weren't going

to proceed with the hire, and that was that.

Q And who made the ultimate final decision to
not hire IRNVIGEREN
A It was ——- I -- it was ultimately my

decision, and I believe that because of, you know, the
circumstances, it wouldn't be beneficial to the office
to have him there at the time.

MS. CHO: Who interviewed him initially? Was
it just you?

THE WITNESS: The initial interview was both
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-- if I -- you know, to my best recollection, it was
myself, the congressman, and then|iiiliEsllwas in the
room. And then, obviously, who was his --
you know, was his friend, was also in the room. But
it -- the -- you know, it was myself and the
congressman that were asking the questions.

MS. CHO: Did you communicate with the
congressman prior to your decision to ultimately not
2P \Vitness 1

THE WITNESS: Well, he was in the room,
obviously, for the conversation that we brought him in
to explain the article.

MS. CHO: Okay.

THE WITNESS: And as Mr. -- or as the
congressman has, you know, said and you can hear in
the audio as well, he says this is ultimately not his
decision, but like, you know, whatever happens would
be what the decision that I deemed. So there wasn't
really -- like, you know, I -- it was my decision. He
was there for the meeting.

Q What was your reaction when Witness 1

disclosed these sexual harassment allegations?
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A My reaction -- I mean, to my best
recollection, it was more of a surprise type of
reaction because I was not made aware of anything like
this. And, you know, the —had said things in
the meeting when he was trying to explain, said things
like he just really enjoyed being here. He loves the
congressman. He loves everybody on the team. So
there was a level of surprise when -- after those
comments that he had made that he would then come
back, not mention to me or in that type of setting
that anything that could have happened.

Q Has anyone reached out to you about our
investigation aside from Mr. BERKE?

A No. No, ma'am.

Q Have you communicated with anyone else aside

from your attorney about our investigation?

A No one other than just like family, close
friends, things like that were -- that are in my --
Q Is there anything else that we didn't cover

that you think would be helpful for us in this review?
MS. CHO: Is there any individual you can

think of that may be helpful for us to speak to?
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THE WITNESS: I -- you know, I -- I guess we
covered so many different things, but not really that
I can think of. Like I said, it's, you know, a lot of
the -- you know, as I mentioned, a lot of the stuff
that -- there just wasn't under my purview or not my
purview, and like those decisions weren't on my end,
so I -- you know, I can -- you know, I don't
necessarily think that there's anything additional
that I have to add here.

Q I -- one last question again, as someone
who's worked on prior campaigns, 1s it ordinary for a
candidate to attend events or campaign outside of his

city or state often? Is that something that happens

frequently?
A In my personal experience, yes. Coming off
of a previous campaign that I worked for, we -- there

was a lot of outside-of-the-state fundraising, and,
you know, a lot of the races, especially right now,
have become so highly contested, and with the balance
of, you know, power within, you know, the House and
the Senate being so close, there's a lot of folks

across the country that have a very strong interest in
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making sure that their respective parties have control
of the balance of Congress. I would say that, yeah,
the, you know, fundraising out of the state and out of
the district is -- for me anyway, 1is not something
that's out of the ordinary.

MS. BENITEZ: Annie, do you have any other?

MS. CHO: Let me --

MS. BENITEZ: Can get off the record and
just simply just run through our notes, make sure we
didn't miss anything.

(A brief recess was taken.)

BY MS. BENITEZ:

Q Sorry there, Staffer 0l1. I'm sorry. A
couple of last questions about the campaign. How
often did the campaign go out for dinners as a staff?

A That's the best of my recollection -- like I
couldn't put an exact number on it. I know that we
did do a number of like staff dinners, and candidate
Santos was very like devoted, or he placed a high
importance on being like -- you know, making sure
there was a good morale, which, you know, from my

campaign experiences, like I also know is something
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that's very important. You're working a lot of long
days, a lot of long hours. So it's like important to
keep that morale high. So there were a number of
staff dinners, yes.

MS. CHO: For the record, I'm going to show
you a document Bates Stamped THGS0081. You mentioned
this early on in the interview when I asked you about
a potential campaign event that may have been held in

Palm Beach, Florida.

THE WITNESS: Uh-huh.

MS. CHO: That's a charge at a restaurant
for a little bit over a grand.

THE WITNESS: Uh-huh.

MS. CHO: Do you know what that could have
been for?

THE WITNESS: That -- you're referencing the
one --

MS. CHO: The highlight, yes.

THE WITNESS: All right. I -- as I
mentioned, this is 2022, correct?

MS. CHO: Yes.

THE WITNESS: Okay. He -- as I mentioned,

PLANET DEPOS
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there was a -- you know, I wasn't there, but the best
of my knowledge, there was a campaign, or like a, you
know, fundraising trip there to Palm Beach in

December. And so, you know, this, you know, this

definitely could have been a campaign -- a fundraising
-— like I said, I don't remember the -- I don't know
the details of it, so I don't know where -- what and

where everything was held, but, you know, that they
did at -- you know, to the best of my recollection,
was a trip in December just before Christmas.

Q Okay. And you -- also, very quickly, you
mentioned that for the most part, the campaign staff
and the congressman use either the campaign vehicle or
the congressman would use his own car to get around.

A Yes, ma'am.

Q Would there be any reason for multiple Uber
charges on the campaign account? To the best of your

knowledge, do you know whether you or other staffers

-- I think you mentioned you never personally made any
A I don't recall personally ever -- I mean --
so, you know, I don't recall any -- I don't recall any
PLANET DEPOS
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Ubers. You know, there -- maybe there was -- like the
only thing I could, you know, speculate is if there
was anybody that was a, you know, surrogate that was
in town on behalf of the campaign that we were, you
know, that transporting event. But outside of that, I
don't recall any like reason or any Ubers.

Q Are you familiar with the airport service
named Clear?

A Yes. Oh, like the --

Q The -- I was struggling with how to describe
that. Do you know whether or not the congressman has

ever purchased this service for himself?

A To the best of my knowledge, like I -- I
believe he has Clear. I could -- you know, I -- but I
can't -- like, you know, I'm not 100 percent sure

there, but, you know, he may have Clear, but I don't
know. I'm not fully aware.

Q And one last question. Where did the
campaign buy campaign supplies for -- signs or

whatever other campaign supplies were necessary?

A So to the best of my knowledge, when we
would -- it was someone who was a contact of Nancy
PLANET DEPOS
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Marks. She -- that did some of the signs, and there
was, to the best of my memory, that we went with
another sign supplier a little further down the road.
That was a gentleman who was someone who the then
Candidate Santos knew and was at a -- had a company
that did, you know, yard signs, things like that. And
that -- yeah.

Q While you were working for the campaign, did
you ever go to BJ's Wholesale and make purchases for
the campaign?

A I personally did not. I -- you know, there
-- I believe that there were purchases that were made
there because -- for, you know, things within the
office as well, like, you know, cleaning supplies or,
you know, bottles of water or whatever, whatever
snacks were needed. I -- you know, I also recall a
time when we bought balloons there for a parade or --
and a street fair.

Q Yes. Lastly, you mentioned that the
campaign would send your receipts over to Nancy Marks
via email, right?

A Invoices were sent via email.
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Q Invoices were sent via email.
A Yes, ma'am.
Q Receipts, were they given in person?
A Yes. Yes, ma'am. We would give those over,

like the actual --

Q Do you still have the emails of the invoices
that were -- at least that you sent over to Nancy?
A Yes. Yes, ma'am, all via email that we had

forwarded over.
Q Would you be able to provide those to our
office?

MR. BERKE: Based on his employment
agreement, there's a confidentiality clause that would
either need to be waived or he wouldn't be able to
provide.

MS. BENITEZ: I don't have any further
questions. So we can go ahead and pop off the record.
Thank you so much, Staffer 0l1. Thank you, Elliot.
Again, I really appreciate you coming in, cooperating
with our process. It's been very helpful. If you
happen to think of anything that you think would be

helpful for our review, please feel free to reach out
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to us at a later time. And thank you.

THE COURT REPORTER: Could I get transcript
orders?

MS. BENITEZ: Yes.

THE COURT REPORTER: Would you like a copy?

MS. BENITEZ: Yeah. So we will provide the
copy to counsel along with, you know, the errata and
corrections.

THE COURT REPORTER: Okay. Sounds good.

(Proceeding concluded at 9:30 a.m. PST)
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12:46 PM Devolder Organization LLC

01/11/23 Profit & Loss

Accrual Basis January through December 2021

Jan - Dec 21
Ordinary Income/Expense
Income

Consulting Income 68,703.19
Total Income 68,703.19

Expense
Automobile Expense 465.38
Bank Service Charges 84.50
Business License/Permits 35.00
Gifts/Donations 880.00
Household Expense 2,942.65
Meals and Entertainment 6,483.36
Office Supplies 136.67
Repairs and Maintenance 91.30
Telephone Expense 37.33
Travel Expense 2,619.46
Uniforms 633.89
Total Expense 14,409.54
Net Ordinary Income 54,293.65
Net Income 54,293.65

Page 1
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10:51 AM

03/01/23
Cash Basis

Devolder Organization LLC

January through December 2021

Profit & Loss

3/24/2023

Ordinary Income/Expense
Income

Consulting Income

Total Income

Expense

Automobile Expense
Bank Service Charges
Business License/Permits
Gifts/Donations
Household Expense
Meals and Entertainment
Office Supplies

Repairs and Maintenance
Telephone Expense
Travel Expense

Uniforms

Total Expense
Net Ordinary Income

Net Income

Jan - Dec 21

614.00

614.00

465.38
84.50
35.00

880.00

2,942.65
6,483.36

136.67
91.30
37.33

2,619.46

633.89

14,409.54

-13,795.54

-13,795.54

Page 1

23-4827_0170



EXHIBIT 6

23-4827_0171



12:45 PM Devolder Organization LLC

01/11/23 Profit & Loss
Accrual Basis January through December 2022
Jan - Dec 22
Ordinary Income/Expense
Income

Consulting Income 667,960.00
Total Income 667,960.00

Expense
Automobile Expense 145.71
Bank Service Charges 297.65
Business License/Permits 2,246.95
Computer and Internet Expenses 185.89
Gifts/Donations 29,365.13
Meals and Entertainment 4,539.18
Office Supplies 3,016.19
Referral Fee 255,000.00
Rent Expense 3,500.00
Travel Expense 1,387.36
Uniforms 872.15
Total Expense 300,556.21
Net Ordinary Income 367,403.79
Net Income 367,403.79
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Citibank CBQ Services 189 001/R1/04F000

P.O. Box 6201 000

Sioux Falls, SD 57117-6201 000 BANIC N A
DEVOLDER ORGANIZATION LLC ’ Statement Period
336 NORTH BABCOCK ST Suite 104 May 26 - Jun 23, 2021
MELBOURNE FL 32935

Page 1 of 2

Relationship Summary:

Checking $12,089.71
Savings J—
Checking Plus —

_ CitiBusiness Streamlined Checking

Beginning Balance: ~ $0.00
Ending Balance: $12,089.71
Date Description Debits Credits Balance
06/04 DEPOSIT 2,000.00 2,000.00
06/07 DEPOSIT 10,000.00 12,000.00
06/09 ATM WITHDRAWAL 1,000.00 11,000.00
51-31 NORTHERN BL, QUEENS, NY
06/18 Esigl;r CARD PURCH Ca.rdes Ending inIIN 257.25 10,742.75
RESTAURANT PRIME HUNTINGTON NY 21168
06/18 ATM WITHDRAWAL 1,000.00 9,742.75
111 GREAT NCK RD, GRT NCK, NY
06/21 OFF-US ATM WITHDRAWAL ' 203.00 9,539.75
438 10TH AVE NYUS051
06/22 ATM DEPOSIT 3,000.00 12,539.75
153-16 1G AV, WHITESTONE, NY
06/22 DEBIT CARD PURCH Gard Endin in[N 31.71 12,508.04
EXXONMOBIL 9749748 ROSLYN HEIGHT NY
06/22 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in 54.00 12,454.04
4Z0811HT 85 Jun 22 .
WOLFGANG STEAKHOUSE P NFWYORK NY 21172
06/22 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in[ 162.83 12,291.21
" LBKXTTLE 003185 Jun !
THE PLAZAHOTELF&B NEW YORK  NY 21470
06/23 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in I 66.00 12,225.21
JOZLT5DL 003185 Jun 23 :
OAKLANDS RESTAURANT -HAMPTON BAYS NY 21173
06/23 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in [N 135.50 12,089.71
FWYLTSDL 3185 Jun '
OAKLANDS RESTAURANT HAMDTON BAYS NY 21173 - .
Total Debits/Credits 2,910.29 15,000.00

1234827 0174 _



DEVOLDER ORGANIZATION LLC

Account m Page 2 of 2 001/R1/04F000
Statement Period: May 26 - Jun 23, 2021

IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS ON: YOU CAN CALL: YOU CAN WRITE:
Checking 877-528-0990 CitiBusiness
{For Speech and Hearing 100 Citibank Drive
Impaired Customers Only San Antonio, TX 78245-9966

TTY: 800-945-0258)

For change in address, call your account officer or visit your branch.

© 2021 Citigroup Inc. Citibank, N.A. Member FDIC.
Citibank with Arc Design and CitiBusiness are registered service marks of Citigroup Inc.
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Citibank CBO Services 189 001/R1/04F000
P.O. Box 6201 00C
Sioux Falfs; SD 57117-6201 ClTlBANK, N. A.

Statement Period

DEVOLDER ORGANIZATION LLC Jun 24 - Jul 26, 2021
336 NORTE BABCOCK ST Suite 104 Relationship Manager
MELBOURNE FL 32935 US SERVICE CENTER
1-877-528-0990
Page1 of 2

Relationship Summary:

Checking $4,163.33
Savings ——
Checking Plus J—

Type of Charge No./Units Price/Unit Amount
sTREAMLINED CHECKING # ||
Average Daity Collected Balance $8,976.79
DEPOSIT SERVICES
CURRENCY DEPOSIT $PER $100) 70 3500 24.50
CURRENCY DEPOSIT (PER $100) 50 .3500 17.50
WAIVE
CHECKS, DEP ITEMS/TICKETS, ACH 4 .4500 1.80
*WAIVE
Total Charges for Services $24.50
Net Service Charge $24.50

Charges debited from account #-

CitiBusiness Streamlined Checking

Beginning Balance: $12,089.71
Ending Balance: $4,163.33

Date Description Debits Credits Balance

06/29 WITHDRAWAL 10.00 12,079.71

06/29 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in [ 250.00 11,829.71
sSQ *CAMPAIGNS UI\UM[TLbyd Harbor NY 21177

06/28 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in [l 500.00 11,329.71
PDJLMSK3 003185 Jun
A *TIERNEY FOR DA 2252504301 NY 21177

06/30 OFF-US ATM WITHDRAWAL 603.00 10,726.71
180 MADISON AVE New York NYUSQO51

©7/02 ATM DEPOSIT 3,000.00 13,726.71
153-16 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY

07/02 ATM WITHDRAWAL 200.00 13,526.71
153-16 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY

07/02 DEBIT CARD PURCH Gard Ending injillll 200.93 13,325.78
23ZVaYHQ 003185 Jul 02
TST* LA GRANDE BOUCHE NEW YORK ~ NY 21182

07/06 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Endin inf 189.05 18,136.73
MACY'S 0019 REQUEENS SO5TS

07/06 OFF-US ATM WITHDRAWAL 504.99 12,631.74
Everi JAMAICA  NYUSD51

23-4827_0176



DEVOLDER ORGANIZATION LLC Account m Page 2 of 2 COURIDAFEOD
Statement Pernod: Jun 24 - Jui 26, 2021

Date Description Debits Credits Balance

07/07 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Endin in I 164.61 12,467.13
XP79XY Q03185 Jul O
TST*IL BACCO LITTLENECK NY 21186

07/07 WITHDRAWAL 3,000.00 9,467.13

07/08 SERVICE CHARGE 24.50 9,442.63
ACCT ANALYSIS DIRECT DB

07/12 ATM WITHDRAWAL 500.00 8,942.63
26-47 PARSONS BL, QUEENS, NY

07/13  DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in [ ] 30.00 8,912.63
SQ ‘STARS AND STRIPES ARLINGTONI VA 21193

07/13 DEBIT GARD PURCH Card Ending inflillll 110.26 8,802.37
HILTON MEDIA GRILL BA DALLAS TX 21193

07/16 WITHDRAWAL 3,000.00 5,802.37

07/19 ATM DEPOSIT 510.00 6,312.37
153-16 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY

07/19 ATM WITHDRAWAL 200.00 6,112.87
153-16 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY

07/19 OFF-US ATM WITHDRAWAL 304.99 5,807.38
Everi JAMAJCA  NYUS051

07/19. ATM WITHDRAWAL 400.00 5,407.38
153-18 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY

07/21 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in [ 398.32 5,009.06
TSYFMHM2 85 Jul 2
UNIVERSAL ORLANDO WEB 4072244233 FL

07/23 DEBIT GARD PURCH Card Ending in “ 8.50 5,000.56
SUPERMERCADGC BRASILEI OHLANDO FL 21203

07/23 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in 50.00 4,950.56

SNXLKXL2 003185 Jul 23

UNIV PARKING 01400040 ORLANDO FL

07/23 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Endin 168.65 4,761.91
HOMEGOODS 13401 20TH A COLLEGE OINTNYUSDS15

07/23 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in 468.58 4,313.33
UNIV ADM‘I'KT 014108880 ORLANDO ! FL 21203

07/26 ATM WITHDRAWAL 150.00 4,163.33
153-16 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY
Total Dehits/Credits 11,436.38 3,510.00

IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS ON; YOU CAN CALL: YOU CAN WRITE:
Checking 877-528-0990 CitiBusiness
(For Speech and Hearing 100 Citibank Drive
Impaired Customers Only San Antonio, TX 78245-9966

TTY: 800-945-0258)

For change in address, call your account officer or visit your branch.

© 2021 Citigroup Inc. Citibank, N.A. Member FDIC.
Citibank with Arc Design and CitiBusiness are registered service marks of Cmgroup Inc.
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Citibank CBO Services 189 001/R1/04F000

P.O. Box 6201 000
Sioux Falls, SD §7117-6201 CITIBANK, N. A.
DEVOLDER ORGANIZATION LLC Jul 27 - Aug 24, 2021
336 NORTE BABCOCK ST Suite 104 Relationship Manager
MELBOURNE FL 32935 US SERVICE CENTER
1-877-528-0990

Page 1 of 2

Relationship Summary:

Checking $4,531.09
Savings —
Checking Plus ——

Your Volcker Rule Disclosure and Impaortant Notice Regarding Future Verbal and Written Communications
is now avalilable to view online. Visit citi.com/accountagreementsandnotices and click on Citi Private

Bank Notices to view the notices. For questions or concerns, please contact your Private Banking team
for more information.

Type of Charge No./Units Price/Unit Amount
sTREAMLINED cHECKING |
Average Daily Collected Balance ' $6,913.39
DEPOSIT SERVICES '

CHECKS, DEP ITEMS/TICKETS, ACH 3 .4500 1.35
WAIVE
Total Charges for Services $0.00
Net Service Charge $0.00

CitiBusiness Streamlined Checking

Beginning Balance: $4,163.33
Ending Balance: $4,531.09
Date Description Debits Credits Balance
07/27 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending il 122.21 4,041.12
VPPQ8D0O 003185 Jul 27
BJS WHOLESALE #0097 COLLEGE POINT NY 21207
07/27 OFF-US ATM WITHDRAWAL 207.49 3,833.63
Everi QOXON HILL MDuUSo051
07/27 OFF-US ATM WITHDRAWAL 407.49 3,426.14
Everi OXONHILL MDUSG51
07/28 ATM WITHDRAWAL 1,000.00 2,426.14
153-16 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY
07/30  DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Ending inF 16.37 2,409.77
NQRTH SHORE FAR FLUSHING YUS0S515

23-4827_0178



DEVOLDER ORGANIZATION LLC Account m Page 2 of 2 oo1A10ero00
Statement Period: Jul 27 - Aug 24, 2021

Date Description Debits Credits Balance
08/02  DEBIT GARD PURCH Card Ending in N 175.00 2,233.77
*GDVISHQ 003185 Aug
BLVD *PEACHY STUDIO NEW YORK ~ NY 21211
08/02 ATM WITHDRAWAL 1,000.00 1,234.77
153-16 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY ’
08/03 DEBIT CARD PURGH Card Ending in [ ] 67.75 1,167.02
TCBCM6E6S 003185 Au
ROMANO DRIVE IN CLEAN WHITESTONE NY 21212
08/05 ATM WITHDRAWAL : 500.00 667.02
153-16 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY
08/09 ELECTRONIC CREDIT : .
/o RED STRATEGIES U QUICKBOOKS 678041534  Aug 09 9.458.67 10,125.89
08/09 WITHDRAWAL 4,500.00 5,625.69
08/10 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card 8E5ndin$oin- 106.06 5,519.63

RP4HMMPS
TST* BURGER VILLAGE - HICKSVILLE NY 21221

08/10 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Ending i 116.41 5,403.22
SHOPRITE 20TH AVE S1 COLLEGE P 15

08/11 ATM WITHDRAWAL 180,00 5,203.22
153-16 10 AV, WH[TESTONE, NY

08/12 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending ] | 76.59 5,146.63
Y37RD86S 003185 Aug 1
NEW YORK PAO DE QUEN ASTQORIA NY 21223

08/13 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in{JJiil] 49.58 5,097.05
621QF86S 003185 Aug 1
PREMIER DINER COMMACK 21

08/17 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in- 2.08 5,094.97
TYTEVNGW 003185 Aug 17
VINNY PIZZA CORAM NY 21228

08/17 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in -
HYTEVNGW 003185 Aug 17
VINNY PIZZA CORAM NY 21

14.56 5,080.41

08/18 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in - 131.46 494895
Pag| 1

L8XHQ 003185Al§
TST*IL BACCO LITTLE NECK NY 21229

08/23 ATM WITHDRAWAL 400.00 4,548.95
153-16 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY

08/24 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending ir- 17.86 4,531.09
6ZV3XHDL 003185 Aug 2
GOLDEN PEAR BRIDGEHAM BRIDGEHAMPTON NY 21235
Total Debits/Credits 9,090.91 9,458.67

IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS ON: YOU CAN CALL: YOU CAN WRITE:
Checking 877-528-0990 CitiBusiness
(For Speech and Hearing 100 Citibank Drive
Impaired Customers Only San Antonio, TX 78245-9966

TTY: 800-945-0258)

For change in address, call your account officer or visit your branch.

® 2021 Citigroup Inc. Citlbank, N.A. Member FDIC.
Citibank with Arc Design and CitiBusiness are registered service marks of Citigroup Inc.

23-4827_0179



Citibank CBO Services 189 001/R1/04F000

P.0. Box 6201 000
Sioux Falls, SD 57117-6201 CITIBANK, N. A.
mrlod
DEVOLDER ORGANIZATION LLC Aug 25 - Sep 24, 2021
336 NORTH BARCOCK ST Suite 104 Relationship Manager
MELEBOURNE FL 32935 Citibusiness Service Center
: (877) 528-0990

Page 1 of 3

Relationship Summary:

Checking $5,186.45
Savings ——
Checking Plus ———

Type of Charge No./Units Price/Unit Amount
STREAMLINED CHECKING # -
Average Daily Collected Balance $3,882.46
DEPQOSIT SERVICES
MONTHLY MAINTENANCE FEE 1 15.0000 15.00
CHECKS, DEP ITEMS/TICKETS, ACH 1 4500 0.45
WAIVE
Tatal Charges for Services $15.00
Net Service Charge $15.00

Charges debited from account # ||| EEEzG

CitiBusiness Streamlined Checking

6780415342 Beginning Balance: $4,531.09
Ending Balance: $5,186.45

Date Description Debits Credits Balance

08/30 ATM WITHDRAWAL 350.00 4.181.09
153-16 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY

09/01 DEBIT CARD (POS,) Card Ending in ] 754.94 3,426.15
S.FER INTERNATIONAL IN MANHASS NYUSC515

09/02 OFF-US ATM WITHDRAWAL 100.00 3,326.15
149-52 14TH AVENUE WHITESTONE NYUS051

09/07 ATM WITHDRAWAL 160.00 3,166.15
25-47 PARSONS BL, QUEENS, NY

09/07 OFF-US ATM WITHDRAWAL 204.99 2,961.16
Everi JAMAICA  NYUSO051

09/07 ATM WITHDRAWAL 300.00 2,661.16
153-16 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY

09/08 SERVICE CHARGE 15.00 2,646.16
ACCT ANALYSIS DIRECT DB

09/09 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Endin inm‘ 30.92 2,615.24
TIJMAXX #0 20TH STR WHITESTO 5

09/10 ATM WITHDRAWAL 300.00 2,315.24
153-16 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY

09/13 DEBIT CARD gﬁos Card Endin inNE 85.47 2,220.77
TIMAXX #0 20TH STREET WHITESTO 0515

09/13 ATM WITHDRAWAL 600.00 1,629.77

111 GREAT NCK RD, GRT NCK, NY

23-4827_0180



DEVOLDER ORGANIZATION LLC

Account
Statemen

t !erlo!: E

001/R1/04FC00

Page 2 0of 3

g 25 - Sep 24, 2021

Credits Balance

Date Description
09/14 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Ending in 1,623.77
WHITESTONE AUTQ WHITESTONE 515
09/14 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in N 1,609.59
coco FRESH TEA & JUIC FLUSH!NG NY21
09/14  DEBIT GARD (POS) Card Ending in 18.98 1,590.61
BJS WHOLESALE #0 13705 COLLEGE 0515
09/14 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card End|n$ in[IN 42.05 1,548.56
XBJOQQZHQ 4
TST* THE HAMPTON SOCt NASHVILLE TN 21258
09/14 DEBIT CARD &Posg Card Endu:)q M 59.92 1,488.64
SHOPRITE 20TH AVE 81 COLLEGE P 15
09/14 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Endin: 102.72 1,385.92
I*YX4ADSP 003185 Sep 1
NOVITA GARDEN CITY NY 21254
09/14  DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending i | 210.85 1,175.07
STK NASHVILLE NASHVILLE %212&
09/15 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Ending in 23.98 1,151.09
WINES 26 LIQUO LONG ISLAND CNYUS0515
09/15  DEBIT CARD PURGH Card Ending in I 41.76 1,109.33
8C755710 003185 Sep
LANDMARK DINER ROSLYN NY 21 257
09/15 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Ending 60.11 1,049.22
HOMEGQOGS 1 ACOLEGE OlNTN 50515
09/16  DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in 5.36 1,043.86
-]
SQ "CAFE' 346 NEW YORK  NY 21258
09/16 ATM WITHDRAWAL 160.00 883.86
153-16 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY
0917 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Endin r- 6.62 877.24
ESTONE NYU
09/17 OFF US ATM WITHDRAWAL 20.00 857.24
149-52 14TH AVENUE WHITESTONE NYUS051
09/17 OFF-US ATM WITHDRAWAL 62.50 794.74
WHITESTONE A-397518 WHITESTONE W
09/20 DEBIT GARD (POS) Card Endin 9.97 784.77
09/20 DEBIT CARD PO d End 12.97 771.
f 7-ELEVEN ( S g‘%NE d m%osr_ 9 80
09/20 ATM WFTHDRAWAL 100.00 671.80
51-31 NORTHERN BL, QUEENS, NY
09/20 OFF-US ATM WITHDRAWAL 120.00 551.80
148-52 14TH AVENUE WHITESTONE NYUS051
09/21  DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in 18.69 533.11
BWMWS9M 185 Sep 21
MCDONALD'S F1172 LITI’LE NECK NY 2
09/21 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending i rﬁ 50.00 483.11
KCPRJ5JSS
STARBUCKS STORE 07559 WHiTEST NE N
09/22 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Endlrgg mﬁ 7.33 475.78
AL'S DELI & MRS FIELD MANHA'I'I'AN NY21264
09/22 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Endin 46.33 429.45
HVLMVGOC 003185 Sep
TST* LE PAIN QUQOTIDIE NEW YORK NY 21264
09/22 OFF-US ATM WITHDRAWAL 243.00 186.45
666 3RD AVE NEWYORK NYUSG51
09/23 ELECTRONIC CREDIT 5,000.00 5,186.45
RED STRATEGIES U QUICKBOOKS 678041534 Sep 23
Total Debits/Credits 4,344.64 5,000.00

23-4827_0181



DEVOLDER ORGANIZATION LLC

Account “ Page 8 of 3
Statement Period: Aug 25 - Sep 24, 2021

001/R1/04F000

IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS ON: YOU CAN CALL:

Checking 877-528-0990
(For Speech and Hearing
Impaired Customers Cnly
TTY: 800-945-0258)

For change in address, call your account officer or visit your branch.
© 2021 Citigroup Ine. Citibank, N.A. Member FDIC.

Citibank with Arc Design and CitiBusiness are registered service marks of Citigroup Inc.

YOU CAN WRITE:

CitiBusiness
100 Citibank Drive

San Antonio, TX 78245-9966

23-4827_0182




Citibank CBQO Services 189
P.O. Box 6201
Sioux Falls, SD 57117-6201

DEVOLDER ORGANIZATION LLC
336 NORTH BABCOCK ST Suite 104
MELEQURNE FL 32935

000
CITIBANK. N. A.

001/R1/04F000

ggemenl !eriod

Sep 25 - O¢t 26, 2021
Relationship Manager
Citibusiness Service Center

(877) 528-0990

Page 1 of 4

Relationship Summary:

Checking $3,124.85
Savings ——
Checking Plus e

Type of Charge No./Units Price/Unit Amount
sTREAMLINED CHECKING I
Average Daily Collected Balance $2,463.18
DEPOSIT SERVICES
MONTHLY MAINTENANCE FEE 1 15.0000 15.00
CHECKS, DEP ITEMS/TICKETS, ACH 1 4500 0.45
WAIVE
Total Charges for Services $15.00
$15.00

Net Service Charge

Charges debited from account # ||| Gz

CitiBusiness Streamlined Checking

Beginning Balance: $5,186.45
Ending Balance: $3,124.85

Date Description Debits Credits Balance

09/27 CORRECTION Card Ending i 57.1¢ 5,243.64
TJMAXX £0 90 NORTHERN GREEND

09/27 DEBIT CARD gPOS Card Ending i 16.33 5,227.31
DOLLAR TR 13223 14TH A COLLEGE PO

09/27 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Endln%in 17.94 5,209.37
STOP & SHOP 2587 3106 FLUSHING  NY!

09/27 DEBIT CAR%OS) Card Ending in 23.21 5,186.16
LEES FAMILY FARM CORP ASTORIA ~ N

09/27 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Endir%im 28.29 5,157.87
BJS WHOLESALE #0 13705 COLLEGE INT? 15

08/27 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Ending i 38.59 5,118.28
WHITESTONE AUTO WHITESTONE

09/27 DEBIT CARD q;’OS Card Ending in 44 22 5,074.08
TIMAXX #0 90 NORTHERN GREENDA NYUSQ515

09/27 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in [ 59.05 5,015.01
CZH3NTLB 003185 Sep 27
GRILLEDISTRICT  ARLINGTON VA 21267

09/27 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Endin: iw 73.29 4,941.72
BJS WHOLESALE #0 13705 COLLLEGE POIN 15

09/27 OFF-US ATM WITHDRAWAL 100.00 4,841.72

149-52 14TH AVYENUE ~ WHITESTONE NYUS051

23-4827_0183




DEVOLDER ORGANIZATION LLC Account H Page 2 of 4
Statement Period: Sep 25 - Oct 26, 2021

001/R1/04F000

Date Description Debits Credits Balance
09/27 ATM WITHDRAWAL 1,000.00 3,841.72
111 GREAT NCK RD, GRT NCK, NY
09/27 ATM WITHDRAWAL 1,000.00 2,841.72
111 GREAT NCK RD, GRT NCK, NY
09/28 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Endln%fn- 15.90 2,825.82
PSVZMCSS 003185 S
SQ *ANIMAL RIDES QUEE ISELIN 21270
09/28 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Endinz% ] | 20.00 2,805.82
W2C8B4V5 003185 Se
RAPAWZEL GROOMING SER AS‘TORIA NY 21270
09/28 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in 34.54 2,771.28
LB3402P 03185 Sep
NEW HONG KONG WHITESTONE NY 2
09/28 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Endin inﬁ 36.83 2,734.45
RH39Y*MB 003185 Sep 2
TERIYAK| ONE FLUSHING NY 21270
09/28 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Endlrexg in 44,16 2,690.29
NEW YORK PAO DE QUEW ASTOHIA NY 21270
09/28 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Endin i 91.21 2,599.08
1.2C9B4VS 003185 Sep 2
RAPAWZEL GROOMING SER ASTORIA NY 21270
09/29 ATM WITHDRAWAL 100.00 2,499.08
153-16 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY
09/29 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Endingw 112.02 2,387.06
HOMEGOODS 1 1 20TH A COLLEGE 515
09/30 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in ' 109.75 2,277.31
MGD4QeeS 003185 Sep
ROMANQ DRIVE IN CLEAN WHITESTONE NY 21272
09/30 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Endin 224.20 2,053.11
PFXQHRS 003185 Sep 0
GIJLIQ CESARE RISTORA WESTBURY
10/01 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Endin W 28.29 2,024.82
BJS WHOLESALE #0 13705 COLLEGE 5
10/01 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Ending in 28.74 1,996.08
TIMAXX #0 20TH EET WHITESTO!
10/01  ATM WITHDRAWAL 800.00 1,196.08
87-11 QUEENS BLVD, QUEENS, NY
10/04 DEBIT GARD (P ard Ending i 11, .
0/0 sKEAQuECENS ¢ OF?‘:H: nhl(r\B%IgF 9 118415
10/04 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Enéiglg m- 2217 1,161,98
MULTIPLB( CINEMAS WHFI'=STONE NY 21274
10/04 ATM WITHDRAWAL 400.00 761.98
111 GREAT NCK RD, GRT NCK, NY
10/05 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Endin in N 2.00 759.98
HDYP3PL? 003185
IMPARKO00720024A REGO PARK NY 21277 X
10/05 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending i 20.33 739.65
LFSVEQ 003135
NORTH SHOHE FARMS WHI FLUSHING NY 21277
10/05 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Endln&,u 48.00 691.65
BP#3526381A SO0
10/06 ATM DEPOSIT 4,000.00 4,691.65
153-16 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY
10/06 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Ending :r\‘F 65.26 4,626.39
PET SUPPLIES PLUS 9060 MASFETH 0515
10/06 ATM WITHDRAWAL 300.00 4,326.39
163-16 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY
10/07 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in ] 17.83 4,308.56
MCDONALD’S F23107 WHlTESTONE NY 21279
10/07 DEBIT GARD PURGH Card Ending in [N 35.00 4,273.56
FKXG 003185 Oct
CITY CLERK MANHATTAN NEW YORK  NY 21279
10/07 ATM WITHDRAWAL 400.00 3,873.56
80-19 ROOSEVELT, QUEENS, NY
10/08 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in [ 32.00 3,841.56
9283BL2N 003185 Oct 08
RIVER PLACE GARAGE LL NEW YORK  NY 21280
10/08 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Endingsin [ ] 33.52 3,808.04
6Z3WEQCR 003185 Oct
NORTH SHORE FARMS WHI FLUSHING  NY,
10/08 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending mﬁ 48.00 3,760.04
PARK]?’ MANAGEMENT-27P NEW YORK NY 21280
10/08 ATM WITHDRAWAL 1,500.00 2,260.04
111 GREAT NCK RD, GRT NCK, NY
10/08 SERVICE CHARGE 15.00 2,245.04

ACCT ANALYSIS DIRECT DB

23-4827_0184



DEVOLDER ORGANIZATION LLC Account _ Page 3 of 4 OORI/4FGa0
Statement Period: Sep 25 - Oct 26, 2021

Date Description Debits Credits Balance

10/12 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Endm
MWK55CDR

ing in B 5.45 2,239.59

SEATTLE COFFEE NEW YORK NY21

10/12 DEBIT GARD (POS) Card Ending in ﬁ 35.28 2,204.31
TOTAL WINE AND

10/12 DEBIT CARD POSE_ICard Endingun- 67.31 2,137.00
IKEA LONG IS D ICKSVILL

10112 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Endi 84.86 2,052.14
PUBLIX SUPER MAR 1100 6MIAM] BEA! H FLUSOSIS

10/12 OFF-US ATM WITHDRAWAL 102.50 1,949.64
WHITESTONE A-3975618 WHITESTONE NYUS051

1012 ATM WITHDRAWAL 300.00 1,649.64
153-168 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY

10/12 ATM WITHDRAWAL 600.00 1,049.64
401 ART GODFREY, M.BEACH, FL

10/13  DEBIT GARD PURCH Card Ending N 3.53 1,046.11
IKEA LONG ISLAND REST HICKSVILLE NY2

10/13 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Endin i 33.77 1,012.34
RKHRPMP8 003185 Oct
TST* PHO METRO FLUSHING NY 2128

10/13 DEB!T CARD PURCH Card Endlng 40.23 972.11
TO‘VIO JAPANESE CAFE ELMHURST

10/13 DEBIT GARD PURGH Gard Ending lh 74.09 898.02
TARGET 0001150 FLUSHING NY 21284

10/13 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in 113.54 784.48
W1KJDJOO 003186 Oct 1
BJS WHOLESALE #0097 COLLEGE POINT

10/14 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending m 148.02 636.46
X*B1SQF* 003185 14
CHOTTC MATTE MIAMI BEACH FL 21286

10/18 DEPOSIT 614.00 1,250.46

= 10/18  DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Endin inlEN 14.25 1,236.21

HUA LIAN SUPER FLUSHING N U80515

10/18 DEBIT CARD g 08S) Card Endi M 27.19 1,209.02
TIMAXX #0 20TH WHITESTO: 15

10/18 ATM WITHDRAWAL 60.00 1,149.02
153-16 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY

10/18 OFF-US ATM WITHDRAWAL 307.49 841.53
Everi OXCN HILL MDUS051

10/19 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in ]I 21.98 819.55
YOQ7D800 003185 Oct 19
WALGREENS #4688 WHITESTONE NY 21281

10/19 OFF-US ATM WITHDRAWAL 102.50 717.05
WHITESTONE A-397518 WHITESTONE

10/21  DEBIT CARD PURGH Card Endm;:;\% 10.40 706.65
CARVEL #688 WHITESTONE NY 21293

10/25 DEPOSIT 4,700.00 5,406.65

10/25 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Ending S@ 17.07 5,389.58
NORTH SHORE F. FLUSHING

10/25 ATM WITHDRAWAL 240.00 5,149.58
153-18 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY

1 . ,124.85

0/26 FI?GEWBSI'I' CARD PURCH Card Endlnz% r- 2473 5

TST* PARIS BAGUETTE - FOREST HILLS NY 21298

10/26 ATM WITHDRAWAL 2,000.00 3,124.85
111 GREAT NCK RD, GRT NCK, NY
Totat Debits/Credits 11,432.79 9,371.19

23-4827_0185



DEVOLDER ORGANIZATION LLC

Account Page 4 of 4
Statemen . 5 - Oct 26, 2021

GO1/R1/04F000

IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS ON: YOU CAN CALL:

Checking 877-528-0990
{For Speech and Hearing
Impaired Customers Only
TTY: 800-945-0258)

For change in address, call your account officer or visit your branch.
© 2021 Citigroup Inc. Citibank, N.A. Member FDIC.

Citibank with Arc Design and CitiBusiness are registered service marks of Citigroup Inc.

YOU CAN WRITE:

CitiBusiness
100 Citibank Drive

San Antonio, TX 78245-9966

23-4827_0186



Citibank CBO Services 189
P.O. Box 6201
Siotix Falls, SD 57117-6201

DEVOLDER ORGANIZATION LLC
336 NORTH BABCOCK ST Suite 104
MELBOURNE FL 32835

Q01/R1/04F000

Q00
CITIBANK, N. A.

!!'emenl !eriod

Oct 27 - Nov 24, 2021
Relationship Manager
Citibusiness Service Center
(877) 528-0990

Page 1 of 3

Relationship Summary:

Checking $628.71
Savings ——
Checking Pius o

Your 2021 ATM Security Tips and Important Notice
Regarding Future Verbal and Written Communications are
now available to view online. Visit
citi.com/accountagreementsandnotices and click on 'Small
Business Account Agreements and Notices' to view the
notices.

Effective Immediately: Your ATM cash withdrawal limit has been increased from $1,000 to
$1,500. As a result, the third sentence in the section titled “Withdrawals-Withdrawals at 2
Propnetarv Citibank ATM" in the CitiBusiness Client Manual is amended as follows: There is a
daily limit of up to $1,500 per business card per day for Citibank ATM location withdrawals. We
may change these Timits from time to time and af any time based on security issues and other
factors.

Type of Charge No./Units Price/Unit Amount
sTREAMLINED cHECKING # (N
Average Daily Collected Balance $1,773.55
DEPOSIT SERVICES
MONTHLY MAINTENANCE FEE 1 15.0000 15.00
CHECKS, DEP ITEMS/TICKETS, ACH 4 4500 1.80
*WAIVE
Total Charges for Services $15.00
Net Service Charge $15.00

Charges debited from account # |||

CitiBusiness Streamlined Checking

Beginning Balance: $3,124.85

Ending Balance: $628.71

Date Description Debits Credits Balance

10/28 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Endingin 3185 43.87 3,080.98
SUNQCO 80020831  CALVERTON S0015

111.79 2,969.19

10/28 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in 3185
BHJP24C 003185 Qct 28
CIPOLLIN| RESTAURANT MANHASSET = NY 21300

23-4827_0187



DEVOLDER ORGANIZATION LLC Account mz Page 2 of 3 oonReAreoD
Statement Period: 7 - Nov 24, 2021

Date Description Debits Credits Balance
11/01 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending inN 20.03 2,949.16
WREHBQC 003185 Nov 01
NORTH SHOF{E FARMS WHI FLUSHING
11/01 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Ending |§E 22.85 2,926.31
LIQUOR W 9825 HORACE CORONA
11/01 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Endin 52.00 2,874.31
RY8505 003185 Nov 0
LAZ PKG 590600 INTO08 NEW YORK NYmE
11/01 DEBIT GARD PURCH Card Ending in 72.71 2,801.60
MXMN7Z85 003185 Nov O
STOP & SHOP 0503  MASPETH NY 21302
11/01 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Endan i 131.45 2,670.15
MASSAPEQUA BINER MASSAPEQUA NY 21302
11/01 ATM WITHDRAWAL 860.00 1,810.15
141 GREAT NCK RD, GRT NCK, NY
11/02 DEPOSIT 1,000.00 2,810.15
11/02 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending |n- 42.43 2,767.72
BJS WHOLESALE #0087 GOLLEGE POINT NY 21305
11/02 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in 102.56 2,665.16
XMBWQ3LC
CIPOLLINI RESTAURANT MANHASSEI’ NY
11/02 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in 119.23 2,545.93
CDS2EMP8
TST* RICE N BEANS - WWOODSIDE NY 21305
11/02 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Endingzin- 159.35 2,386.58
PETBRMPS
WATAWA JAPANESE REST. ASTORIA
11/02 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Endlnm 279.85 2,106.73
PETER LUGER OF/255 NortGreat Ne:
11/03  DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in [ 120.08 1,986.65
L13YOYHQ 003185 Nov
TST* SERAFINA OSTERIA NEW YORK  NY 21306
11/03 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Endln iR 143.72 1,842.93
JESMBX00 003185 No
Hermes Madison 891 New York NY21306
11/04 OFF-US ATM WITHDRAWAL 507.99 1,334.94
Everi LAS VEGAS NVUSC51
11/04 QFF-US ATM WITHDRAWAL 707.99 626.95
Everi GAS NVUSOs1
11/05 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending inf 136.37 490.58
K21H8RL2 003185 Nov
TARGET 0001150 FLUSHING  NY 2130 ’
11/05 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Endin i_ 198.26 292.32
PSW3XH00 003185 Nov
BJS WHOLESALE #0097 COLLEGE POINT NY 21308
11/09 SERVICE CHARGE 15.00 277.32
ACCT ANALYSIS DIRECT DB
11/10 ATM DEPOSIT 5,277.01 5,554.33
163-18 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY
11/10 DEBIT CARD (POS) Gard Endin il 19.86 5,534.47
STONE NYU. 051a
11/10 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in 32.18 5,502.29
71D66S S Nov 10
NICKSSOSDINEH WEST F’ALM BEA FL 21
11712 DEBIT GARD PURCH Card Ending mah 24.41 5,477.88
CURB SVC JACKSON HE JACKSON HEIGH
11/12 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Endin W 109.82 5,368.06
*KVP1SHQ 003185 Nov 1
FOOD BAZAAR #41 LONG IS CITY NY 21314
1112 DEBIT CARD gvos%TCard Endin m@ 140.23 5,227.83
TIMAXX #0 20TH WHITESTO
1112 ATM WITHDRAWAL 2,000.00 3,227.83
111 GREAT NCK RE, GRT NCK, NY
11/15 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in ] 9.56 3,218.27
CVS/PHARMACY #05159 WHITESTONE NY 21315
11/15 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in [l 10.21 3,208.06
BLCL3Q*8 003185 Nov 1
MARKET CRATES NEWYORK NY 21316
11/15 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Ending in & 30.49 3,177.57
PET SUPPLIES PLUS 9080 MASPETH
11/15 D!;(EIEO%)ARD PURCH Casrd Endmg in N 168.39 3,009.18
FOCD BAZAAR #13 CORONA NY 21316
11/15 ATM WITHDRAW. 2,000.00 1,009.18

25-47 PARSONS BL, QUEENS, NY

23-4827_0188



DEVOLDER ORGANIZATION LLC Account m Page 3 of 3 Q0URIDIFOI0
Statemen . 7 - Nov 24, 2021

Date Description Debits Credits Balance

11/16 ATM DEPOSIT 1.500.00 2,500.18
349 MAIN STREET, HUNTNGTN, NY

11/16 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending i 24.15 2,485.03
BVQ*11M2 0031385 Nov 1
BURGER KING #26231 Q0 MASPETH NY21“

11/16 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in
003185 Nov 16

WITVXN*CL
ROSAS PIZZA GREAT NECK  NY 21319
11716 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Endin in | 36.00 2,421.83

3F2Z6P78 S Nov 1
WEBPAY-COURTORTICKET 305- 375?9,87 FL
11/16  DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in “
PX6PFRL2 003185 Nov 1
TARGET 0001150 FLUSHING  NY 21317
11116 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending infN 119.08 2,248.28
YBGO31*Q 003185 Nov 1
FAVELA GRILL ASTORIA  NY 21319
11716 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in
GBNDHJSS 003185 Nov 16
STATE GRILL NEWYORK NY 21317
11/16 ATM WITHDRAWAL 760.00 1,334.16
349 MAIN STREET, HUNTNGTN, NY
1118 OFF-US ATM WITHDRAWAL 307.49 1,026.67
Everi OXONHILL  MDUS051
11/22 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in [l 25.08 1,001.59
LWQPH4FL 0CG3185 Nov 22
NOBUDC WASHINGTON DC 21323

11/22 DEBIT CARD POS) Card Endi @5 146.21 855.38
n 26.67 828.71
YUS0515

27.20 2,457.83

54.47 2,367.36

154.12 2,094.16

SHOPRITE 20TH COLLEGE POI

11/23 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Endung
NORTH SHORE FAR ~ FLUSH

11/24 ATM WITHDRAWAL 200.00 628.71
153-16 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY
Total Debits/Credits 10,273.15 7.777.01

IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS ON: YOU CAN CALL: YOU CAN WRITE:
Checking 877-528-0920 CitiBusiness
{For Speech and Hearing 100 Citibank Drive
tmpaired Customers Only San Antonio, TX 78245-9966

TTY: 800-945-0258)

For change in address, call your account officer or visit your branch.

® 2021 Citigroup Inc. Citbank, N.A. Member FDIC.
Citibank with Arc Design and CitiBusiness are registered service marks of Crigroup Inc.
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Citibank CBO Services
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Sioux Falls, SD 57117-6201
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Relationship Summary:

Checking

Savings
Checking Plus

Your 2021 ATM Security Tips and Important Notice
Regarding Future Verbal and Written Communications are
now available to view online. Visit
citi.com/accountagreementsandnotices and click on 'Small
Business Account Agreements and Notices' to view the
notices.

Effective Immoediately: Your ATM cash withdrawal limit has been increased from $1,000 to
$1.500. As a result, the third sentence in the section titled "Withdrawals-Withdrawals at a
Proprietary Citibank ATM" in the CitiBusiness Client Manual is amended as follows: There is a
daily limit of up to $1,500 per business card per day for Citibank ATM location withdrawals. We
may change these limits from time to time and at any time based on security issues and other
factors.

Type of Charge No./Units Price/Unit Amount
sTREAMLINED CHECKING # ||
Average Daily Collected Balance $1,213.11
DEPOSIT SERVICES
MONTHLY MAINTENANCE FEE 1 15.0000 15.00
CHECKS, DEP ITEMS/TICKETS, ACH 8 4500 3.60
WAIVE
Total Charges for Services $15.00
Net Service Charge $15.00

Charges debited from account #-

CitiBusiness Streamlined Checking

Beginning Balance: $628.71

Ending Balance: $4,155.27

Date Description Debits Credits Balance

11/30 ATM DEPOSIT 643.51 1,272.22
153-16 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY

11/30 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in [ 4.20 1,268.02

GMRTXGLB 003185 Nov
ALL COUNTY VENDING SLOATSBURG NY 21332

23-4827_0190
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DEVOLDER ORGANIZATION LLC

Statemen .
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25 - Dec 23, 2021

001/R1/04F000

Date Description Debits Credits Balance
12/13  DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in[Jll 15.12 12,804.41
Dec 13
WABEEK CLUB BLOOMFIELD HI Ml 21
1213 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Ending in 42.80 12,761.61
WHITESTONE AUTO WHITESTON
12713 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Ending i 57.43 12,704.18
|IKEA LONG S S0515
12713 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Ending In S 91.30 12,612.88
THE HOME DEPQOT #1277 FLUSHING NYU50515
12/13 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Endin 101.26 12,511.62
TIMAXX #0 20TH WHITESTQ NYUSO715
12/13 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Endin 114.32 12,397.30
BJS WHOLESALE #0 13705 COLLEGE P
1213 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Endin in 22472 12,172.58
FOOD BAZA 4202 NORTHER LONG IS
12/13 ATM WITHDRAWAL 300.00 11,872.58
153-1€ 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY
12/18  DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Endin mog 322.03 11,550.55
T- 13505 20th A College Poil us
12/13 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Endi IM 754.94 10,795.61
S.FER INTERNATIONAL IN MANHASS 5
12/13 ATM WITHDRAWAL 2,000.00 8,795.61
111 GREAT NCK RD, GRT NCK, NY
12/14  DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in ] 6.00 8,789.61
92631 - 30 56 WHITEST FLUSFING NY 21 :
12/14  DEBIT GARD PURCH Card Ending ;‘h 13.56 8,776.05
HVFR0*90 003185 Dec 1
CRISTINA DELI QUEENS NY 21347
12/14  DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in I 34.75 8,741.30
*GCVN3X4 003185 Dec 1
NEW HONG KONG WHITESTONE NY 21
12/14 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in h 42.07 8,699.23
TARGET 0001150 FLUSHING NY 21347
12/14  DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in 174.19 8,525.04
B81KS7MO0 03185 Dec 14
TIMAXK #0588 WHITESTONE NY 21
12/15  DEBIT GARD (POS) Card Ending i 51.11 8,473.93
BP#6635403C NEW HYDE PAl
12/15 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending inN 64,17 8,409.76
SNKKGCE6S 00318
POLLOS A LA BRASA MR COLLEGE POINT NY 21348
12/16 ATM WITHDRAWAL 60.00 8,349.76
153-16 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY
12/16 ATM WITHDRAWAL 300.00 8,049.76
153-16 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY
12/16 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in [ I 510.54 7,539.22
YLOYSR10 03185 Dec¢ 1
HERMES MANHASSET NY 21348
12117 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Ending in 50.19 7,489.08
WAL-MART #1221 ICHITA KS
12/17 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Endmg 489.94 6,999.09
DQNJKYHQ 003185 Dec 17
TST* L BACCO LITTLE NECK NY 21350
12/20 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending | in N 5.00 6,994.09
ViaSat, Inc. Carlsbad CA 21 351
12/20 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in in N 9.95 6,984.14
HTTP//WWW.GOGOAIR.CO 877 350-0038 iL2
12/20 DEBIT GARD PURCH Card Ending in ﬁ 19.33 6,964.81
ec 2
MSE BRANDED FQOODS OF WICHITA
12/20 DEBIT CARD (POS) Card Endun&ws? 133.26 6,831.55
CALVIN KLE|N #0 NTRAL VALLE
12/20  ATM WITHDRAWAL 240.00 6,591 55
153-16 10 AV, WRHITESTONE, NY
12/20 ATM WITHDRAWAL 500.00 6,091.55
111 GREAT NCK RD, GRT NCK, NY
12/20 OFF-US ATM WITHDRAWAL 504.99 5,586.56
Everi DETROIT MIUSO51
12/20 OFF-US ATM WITHDRAWAL 804.99 4,78157
Everi OIT  MIUSGS5?
12/21 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending in [} 3.00 4,778.57
BV45G2V5S 003185 Dec
HTTP#WWW.GCGOAIR.CO 877-350-0038 IL
12/21 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending mzﬁ 5.00 4,77357

R3IWC9100 003185 Dec 21
ViaSat, Inc, Carlsbad CA 21353

23-4827_0192



DEVOLDER ORGANIZATION LLC Account H Page 4 of 4 m‘f“”"’““‘”
Statement Period: Nov 25 - Dec 23, 2021

Date Description Debits Credits Balance

12/21 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Ending il 6.52 4,767.05
7MSXBQCR 003185 Dec 21
RITE AID 01805 ASTORIA NY 21354

12/21 DEBIT CARD POS Card Ending in 22,82 4,744.23
TIMAXX #0 20TH -T WHITESTO

12121 DEBIT CAHD PURCH Co%g Bl%nde 316.14 4,428.00

C

TST" KATCH ASTORIA ASTORIA :IY21354

12/22 DEBIT CARD PURCH Card Endlgg in 7.83 4,420.26
S56K1RYL
MCDONALD'S F12266 WOODSIDE NY 21355

12/22 ATM WITHDRAWAL 200.00 4,220.26
153-16 10 AV, WHITESTONE, NY

12/23 DEBIT CARD CRED| Card Endin nm 754.94 4,975.20
S FERRAGAMO MANHASSET MANHASS 56

12/23 EonBsngCARD PURCH Card Endmg In 97.94 487726
TARGET 0001150 FLUSHING NY213

12/23 DEBIT CARD (POSACard Endin m%m 121.99 4,755.27
MACY'S 001 9001 RE

12/23 ATM WITHDRAWAL 600.00 4,155.27
111 GREAT NCK RD, GRT NCK, NY.
Total Debits/Credits 15,954.39 16,480.95

IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS ON: YOU CAN CALL: YOU CAN WRITE:
Checking 877-528-0990 CitiBusiness
(For Speech and Hearing 100 Citibank Drive
Impaired Customers Cnly San Antonio, TX 78245-9966

TTY: 800-945-0258)

For change in address, call your account officer or visit your branch.

® 2021 Citigroup Inc. Citibank, N.A. Member FDIC.
Citibank with Arc Design and CitiBusiness are registered service marks of Citigroup Inc.
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